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APPENDIX 4E AND FINANCIAL REPORT FOR AMA GROUP LIMI TED 

 

In accordance with the Listing Rules of the Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX”), AMA Group 

Limited encloses for immediate release the following information: 

1. Appendix 4E, the Preliminary Final Report for the Year ended 30 June 2017; and 

2. The Financial Report for the Year ended 30 June 2017. 
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on ashley.killick@amagroupltd.com. 
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AMA GROUP LIMITED 
(ACN 113 883 560) 
ASX LISTING RULES – APPENDIX 4E 
PRELIMINARY FINAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE  2017 
 

 

The following information is presented in accordance with Listing Rule 4.3A of the Australian Securities 
Exchange (“ASX”). 
            
1. Details of the reporting period an d the previous corresponding period  
   
 Current reporting period - the year ended 30 June 2017 
 Previous corresponding period - the year ended 30 June 2016 
  
2. Results for announcement to the market  
     
 Year ended  30 Jun  2017 30 Jun  2016 Increase  / (Decrease ) 
                 $’000 $’000 $’000 % 
2.1 Revenues from continuing 

operations (including joint venture 
profit share) 382,165 264,284 117,882 44.60% 

      
 Earnings before interest, tax 

depreciation, amortization and 
impairment from continuing 
operations  37,205 24,672 12,533 50.80% 

      
 Normalised earnings before interest, 

tax, depreciation, amortization and 
impairment from continuing 
operations  41,072 31,921 9,151 28.67% 

      
2.2 Profit after tax from continuing 

operations attributable to members 17,210 7,002 10,208 145.77% 
      
 Normalised profit after tax from 

continuing operations attributable to 
members 20,580 16,035 4,546 28.35% 

      
2.3 Net profit for the period attributable 

to members 17,210 6,990 10,220 146.22% 
      
 Normalised net profit for the period 

attributable to members 20,580 16,022 4,558 28.45% 
  

 Normalised results are Non-IFRS measures.  Refer to the attached Financial Report for details of 
these calculations. 

  

2.4 Dividends (distributions) Amount per 
security 
(cents) 

Franking 
amount 

per security 

Conduit 
foreign 
income 

per 
security 

  
 2017 Final 2.00 100% Nil 
  
2.5 Record date for determining entitlements to the dividend 
  
 15 September 2017    
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AMA GROUP LIMITED 
(ACN 113 883 560) 
ASX LISTING RULES – APPENDIX 4E 
PRELIMINARY FINAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE  2017 
 

 

2.6 Commentary on “Results for Announcement to the Market” 
  
 A brief explanation of any of the figures in 2.1 to 2.4 above, necessary to enable the figures to be 

understood, is contained in the attached Financial Report for the Year ended 30 June 2017. 
  
3. A statement of comprehensive income  
  
 A statement of comprehensive income together with notes to the statement is contained in the 

attached Financial Report for the Year ended 30 June 2017. 
  
4. A statement of financial position  
  
 A statement of financial position together with notes to the statement is contained in the attached 

Financial Report for the Year ended 30 June 2017. 
  
5. A statement of cash flows  
  
 A statement of cash flows together with notes to the statement is contained in the attached Financial 

Report for the Year ended 30 June 2017. 
  
6. A statement of changes in equity  
  
 A statement of changes in equity, showing movements is contained in the attached Financial Report 

for the Year ended 30 June 2017. 
  
7. Details of individual and total dividends or distributions and dividend o r distribution 

payments. 
  
 Type Record Date  Payment  

Date 
Amount 

per 
Security 
(cents) 

Total 
Dividend 

($) 

Franked 
amount 

per 
security 

Conduit 
foreign 

income per 
security 

        
 2016 Final 15 Sep 2016 31 Oct 2016 1.70 8,044,344 100% Nil 

 2017 Interim 15 Mar 2017 13 Apr 2017 0.50 2,432,195 100% Nil 
  
8. Details of any d ividend distribution r einvestment plans . 
  
 Not Applicable. 
  
9. Net Tangible Assets per Security  
 Year ended  30 Jun  2017 30 Jun  2016 Increase / (Decrease)  
  cents  cents  cents  % 
 Net tangible assets per security 0.01 (1.06) 1.07 101.01% 
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AMA GROUP LIMITED 
(ACN 113 883 560) 
ASX LISTING RULES – APPENDIX 4E 
PRELIMINARY FINAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE  2017 
 

 

10. Details of entities over which c ontrol has been gained or lost during the period . 
  
 During the period, control was gained over the following entities: 
  

 Name of entity  Date control 
gained 

Contribution to profit 
from ordinary activities 

    $’000 
    
 Direct One Accident Repair Centre Pty Ltd 1 July 2016 346 
 Smash Repair Canberra Pty Ltd 1 Feb 2017 217 
  
11. Details of any associates and joint venture entitie s 
    
 Name of entity  Ownership  Contribution to profit from 

ordinary activities 
  30 Jun 2017  30 Jun 2016  30 Jun 2017  30 Jun 2016  
  % % $’000 $’000 
Automotive Solutions Group Ltd 24.89 Nil Nil Nil 
  
 During the period, control was not lost over any entity. 
     
12. Any other significant information needed by an inve stor  
     
 Further significant information needed by an investor to make an informed assessment of the entity’s 

financial performance and financial position is contained in the attached Financial Report for the 
Year ended 30 June 2017. 

     
13. Foreign Entities , Accounting Standards used in compiling the report  
  
 Not Applicable. 
  
14. A commentary on the results for the period  
  
 A commentary, including any significant information needed by an investor to make an informed 

assessment of the entity’s activities and results, is contained in the attached Financial Report for the 
Year ended 30 June 2017. 

  
15. Audit / Review of Accounts upon which this report i s based and qualification of audit / review  
  
 This Preliminary Final Report is based on the attached Financial Report for the Year ended 30 June 

2017 which is in the process of being audited.  At the time of this Preliminary Final Report, the 
Company is not aware of any matter that would impact the reported results or that would lead to the 
independent audit report being subject to a modified opinion, emphasis of matter or other matter 
paragraph. F
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This document contains some statements which are by their very nature forward looking or predictive.   Such 
forward looking statements are by necessity at least partly based on assumptions about the results of future 
operations which are planned by the Company and other factors affecting the industry in which the Company 
conducts its business and markets generally.  Such forward looking statements are not facts but rather 
represent only expectations, estimates and/or forecasts about the future and thereby need to be read bearing 
in mind the risks and uncertainties concerning future events generally. 
 
There are no guarantees about the subjects dealt with in forward looking statements.  Indeed, actual 
outcomes may differ substantially from that predicted due to a range of variable factors.
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FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 
OVERVIEW OF THE GROUP 
   
Principal Activities 
 
The principal activity of the Group is the operation and development of complementary businesses in the 
automotive aftercare market. It focuses on the wholesale vehicle aftercare and accessories sector, including 
vehicle panel repair, vehicle protection products & accessories, automotive electrical & cable accessories and 
automotive component remanufacturing. 
 
Achievements 
 
AMA has achieved a number of important milestones in this reporting period: 
 
• The Vehicle Panel Repair division increased the number of shops it operates 86 at 30 June 2017; 
• Subsequent to year end it acquired a further 4 shops and commenced establishment of an additional 3 

greenfields sites; 
• The Automotive Component Remanufacturing division reported turnover in excess of $10 million; 
• The Group also performed well in the 2017 Australian Auto Aftermarket Association Excellence Awards: 

• FluidDrive won the silver award for 'Excellence in Manufacturing under $10 million turnover'; 
• East Coast Bullbars won the bronze award for 'Excellence in Manufacturing over $10 million turnover'; 
• AECAA Pty Ltd won the 'Most innovative new aftermarket electrical product' award; and 
• AECAA Pty Ltd won the 'Most innovative employee engagement program' award. 

• In May 2017, AMA Group also announced a bid to acquire Automotive Solutions Group Ltd (“ASG”).  At the 
close of the bid on 7 July 2017 AMA controlled 31.3% of the issued capital of ASG. 

 
The Directors continue to be proud of the team’s achievements which emphasise the Board’s strategy to 
expand the business, take advantage of industry consolidation whilst ensuring shareholder value and returns 
are given appropriate focus. 
 
Operating Results 
 
Reported earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and impairment expense (“EBITDA”) has 
increased from $24.672 million to $37.205 million; a 50.80% increase.  This result, however, has been 
significantly impacted by several large non-cash abnormal items.  Restating this result for these abnormal 
items results in normalised EBITDA increasing to $41.07 million from the prior year comparative of $31.92 
million; an increase of 28.66%.  Importantly, this normalised EBITDA result exceeds the Company’s previous 
market guidance of being “in excess of $40.0 million”. 
 

 30 June 2017  30 June 2016  
 $’000 $’000 

   
Reported EBITDA 37,205 24,672 
   
Greenfield openings 1,250 - 
Business acquisition costs 677 916 
Site integrations 500 500 
Employee equity plan expense 403 3,644 
Redundancies 379 1,128 
Litigation settlement 350 - 
Borrowing costs 133 - 
Restructuring costs 125 600 
Site closures 50 350 
Discontinued operations - 111 
   
Normalised EBITDA 41,072 31,921 
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These abnormal items have also impacted on the Group’s reported net profit before tax from continuing 
operations attributable to members of AMA (“NPBT”) which has increased to $25.12 million from a prior year 
comparative of $13.17 million; an increase of 90.79%.  After adjusting this result for the impact of these 
abnormal items and the impairment losses, Normalised NPBT becomes $29.29 million; an increase of 25.32% 
over the prior year comparative of $23.37 million. 
 
As outlined in the previous year, the abnormal items distorted the effective tax rate.  Given the nature of these 
items, it was expected at that time that the future effective tax rate will return to a more normal level.  This has 
occurred to some degree in the current year with the effective tax rate being 31.47% (2016: 46.48%). 
 
With this and the strong underlying improvement in operating result the reported net profit after tax attributable 
to members has increased by 146.22%% to $17.21 million.  After adjusting this result for the impact of the 
abnormal items, Normalised NPAT becomes $20.58 million; an increase of 28.45% over the prior year 
comparative of $16.02 million. 
 
Even excluding these abnormal items, the underlying results indicate that the key business operations 
continue to deliver positive results: 
 
• Vehicle Panel Repair increased its revenue by 53.1% and its Gross Margin increased by 49.9%.  A major 

contributor to this growth was the full year impact of the acquisitions completed in FY16 and the part year 
impact of the current year’s acquisitions.  Even so the business was able to increase the FY17 revenue of 
the existing portfolio of repair facilities by 4.7% over the FY16 reported revenue.  This growth excludes the 
additional revenue from Exclusive / Greenfields. 

• Vehicle Protection Products & Accessories was impacted by sales declining in some channels.  Revenue 
decreased by 6.6% but with the operating efficiencies stemming from the reorganisation of the operations 
of East Coast Bull Bars and Custom Alloy this division was able to improve its Gross Margin by 2.1%. 

• Automotive Electrical & Cable Accessories operates in a difficult market.  Its revenue decreased by 3.3% 
but the benefits following the restructuring of the operation in FY16 improved its Gross Margin by 6.8%. 

• Automotive Component Remanufacturing continued to grow its results with revenue increasing by 33.7% 
and Gross Margin increasing by 26.9%.  With the majority of this growth being organic, there was some 
contribution from the ASNU acquisition in the last quarter. 

 
Cash Flow 
 
Although underlying cash flow generated from earnings has been strong this is not obvious from the reported 
result for Net cash flows used in operating activities.  Below is a table that reconciles between the two results. 
 

 30 June 2017  30 June 2016  
 $’000 $’000 

   
Reported EBITDA 37,205 24,672 
   
Discontinued operations - (10) 
Interest paid (170) (207) 
Deferred income amortisation (5,487) (2,981) 
Equity issued as employment condition 403 3,644 
Other non-cash items (910) (750) 
   
Pre Tax Cash Earnings 31,041 24,368 
   
Income tax paid (9,724) (7,247) 
Market investment incentive receipt - 23,000 
Repayment of paint rebate (5,433) - 
Normalisation of working capital for acquisitions (1,981) - 
Other working capital movement (916) (3,360) 
   
Net cash flows used in operating activities 12,987 36,761 
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Adjusting the pre-tax Cash Earnings of $31.04 million for the non-cash normalisation adjustments this 
measure increases to $34.51 million; up 23.35% over the prior comparative period. 
 
As expected AMA’s operating cash flows have been impacted as a result of the receipt in FY16 of the Market 
investment incentive, increased corporate tax payments and the repayment of supplier prebates and the 
adoption of normal purchasing terms for businesses acquired in FY16 and FY17.  
 
The large cash outflows in FY16 related to the acquisition of businesses (including Gemini) significantly 
influenced the prior year Investing cash flows.   The current year’s measure reflects the business acquisitions 
undertaken during the current period and the capital expenditure relating to the increased investment in 
“greenfield” operations as well as the ongoing needs of the business.  The on market bid for ASG resulted in 
the increased outflow in Other investments. 
 
The timing of the ASG bid around financial year end and the associated ASX settlement terms required the 
Company to draw down on its debt facilities to ensure it had sufficient cash reserves to fund this bid.  As such 
the Group had a cash balance of $15.36 million at year end. 
 
Financial Position 
 
The Current Ratio has declined from 1.06 times to 0.81 times.  The reduction in the net cash balance has 
been a major factor in this.  This ratio is also impacted by the significant non-cash items in other current 
liabilities; namely the deferred income and the scrip component of deferred vendor consideration.  Reflecting 
this ratio for these items, the Current Ratio adjusted for non-cash items has declined from 1.18 times to 0.96 
times. 
 
The gearing ratio has risen slightly from 1.73% at June 2016 to 5.47%. While the Company’s market 
capitalisation and the amount owing on deferred vendor consideration has increased the major contributor to 
this increased gearing ratio has been the reduction of the net cash balances held by the group. Even so the 
Directors believe that the Group is conservatively geared and that the Group has sufficient capital resources, 
including the debt facility, which had $27 million undrawn at balance date.  
 
This capital base has enabled the Group to continue to undertake the acquisition programme which has 
resulted in an increased asset base; albeit most of this growth is in intangibles reflecting the service industry 
businesses we have acquired.  The profit retention in the current year has improved the Net Tangible Assets 
per share from negative 1.06 cents per share to positive 0.01 cents per share. 
 
Capital Management 
 
In October 2016, AMA paid the 2016 year final dividend of 1.70 cents per share fully franked at 30%.  This 
bought the total payout related to that year’s result to be 2.20 cents per share fully franked at 30%.   
 
In April 2017, the Company paid the 2017 year interim dividend of 0.5 cents per share fully franked at 30%. 
 
Upon finalising the preliminary final report, the Directors are pleased to announce they have decided to 
declare a final dividend, fully franked at 30%, of 2.0 cents per share with a record date of 15 September 2017 
and a payment date of 31 October 2017. 
 
On payment of this dividend, shareholders will have received a total payout related to the current reporting 
period of 2.5 cents per share; an increase over the previous period of 0.3 cents per share or 13.6%. 
 
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations has increased from 1.53 cents to 3.32 cents; an increase 
of 116.67% 
 
The closing price for an AMA Share on the ASX has also increased through the year from 80.50 cents at 30 
June 2016 to 97.00 cents at 30 June 2017; an increase of 20.50%.  
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Business Strategies and Future Prospects 
 
In recent years, the Board and Management have described the Strategic Direction of the Group as focusing 
on the growth opportunities presenting themselves to the four key business divisions.  It was believed that the 
Group could exploit these opportunities with: 
 
• A relatively strong financial position; 
• Market leading brands; 
• Strong relationships with customers and suppliers across multiple channels; and 
• Industry experienced management with a commitment to operating excellence. 
 
It was anticipated that most business segments would have organic growth potential but given the 
consolidation of the Vehicle Panel Repair industry there would be significant opportunities for strategic and 
accretive acquisitions in this industry segment.  To this end, Management then embarked on the business 
growth programme. 
 
The Directors believe that the strong financial performance of AMA in the current reporting period reflects the 
ongoing outcomes of this strategic direction.  The investments made have resulted in a significant increase in 
the scale and scope of the operations.  Whilst challenging market conditions have persisted across most of 
the Group’s business segments, the results are in line with the Directors’ expectations, which show a 
substantial increase in the Group’s operating revenue and EBITDA over the past three years. 
 
Whilst the economic outlook and market conditions across some business segments are likely to remain 
challenging, AMA believes that its continued application of key management strategies combined with its 
acquisition strategy will continue to boost future earnings. 
 
The Board believe that there are still substantial growth opportunities presenting to the key business divisions.  
The consolidation of the Vehicle Panel Repair industry continues and Management are actively involved in 
negotiating the acquisition of existing businesses and new “greenfield” sites.  These opportunities also exist 
for the other operating divisions.  The acquisition of further businesses will provide further scale to the 
operations. 
 
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
The on market offer to acquire all of the issued capital of Automotive Solutions Group Limited referred to in 
Note 14 closed on 7 July 2017.  At that time the Group had increased its ownership interest to 31.3% from the 
holding at 30 June 2017 of 24.9%. 
 
On 31 August 2017, the Directors declared a dividend, fully franked of 2.0 cents per security which is to be 
paid 31 October 2017. 
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
 Note 30 Jun 2017 30 Jun 2016 
  Restated  

 $’000 $’000 
 
Revenue from continuing operations 4 382,165 264,284
Raw materials and consumables used  (164,200) (111,514)
Employment benefits expense 5 (140,851) (97,985)
Occupancy expense 5 (25,480) (17,810)
Professional services expense  (3,999) (4,010)
Travel and motor vehicle expense  (2,946) (2,165)
Advertising and marketing expense  (1,787) (1,625)
Information technology expense  (1,559) (818)
Communication expense  (896) (687)
Insurance expense  (653) (757)
Other expense 5 (2,589) (2,241)
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation , amortisation and  
impairment (EBITDA)   37,205 24,672
Depreciation and amortisation expense 5 (10,612) (7,144)
Impairment expense 5 (300) (2,954)

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT)  26,293 14,574
Finance costs 5 (170) (207)

Profit from continuing operations before fair value  adjustments  26,123 14,367
Fair value adjustments to financial liabilities  (1,218) (920)
Fair value adjustments to contingent consideration  500 -

Profit (loss) before income tax from continuing ope rations 25,405 13,447
Profit (loss) before tax from discontinued operations 30 - (18)

Profit (loss) before income tax  25,405 13,429
Income tax benefit / (expense) 6 (7,994) (6,242)

Net profit (loss)  17,411 7,187

  
Profit (loss) attributable to  
Members of AMA Group Limited  17,210 6,990
Non-controlling interests 22 201 197

  17,411 7,187

  
Earnings per Share  Cents Cents
From continuing operations  
Basic earnings per share 32 3.32 1.53
Diluted earnings per share 32 3.20 1.50
  
From continuing and discontinuing operations  
Basic earnings per share 32 3.32 1.53
Diluted earnings per share 32 3.20 1.49
  
The above consolidated income statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached notes.  Certain 
amounts shown here do not correspond to the 2016 financial statements and reflect adjustments made, refer 
to Note 1. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 Note 30 Jun 2017 30 Jun 2016 
  Restated 
 $’000 $’000 

 
Net profit (loss)  17,411 7,187

  
Other Comprehensive Income  
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss  
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  (6) 11
  

Other comprehensive income, net of tax  (6) 11

  
Total comprehensive income, net of tax  17,405 7,198

  
Total comprehensive income attributable to:  
Members of AMA Group Limited  17,204 7,001
Non-controlling interests 22 201 197
  

  17,405 7,198

  
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the attached 
notes.  Certain amounts shown here do not correspond to the 2016 financial statements and reflect 
adjustments made, refer to Note 1. 
 
  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



AMA GROUP LIMITED 
(ACN 113 883 560) 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2017 
 

 
FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 

7 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 Note 30 Jun 2017 30 Jun 2016 
   Restated 

 
 $’000 $’000  

Current assets  
Cash and cash equivalents 7 14,723 22,888
Trade and other receivables 8 34,965 22,781
Inventories 9 19,213 15,402
Other current assets 10 3,701 1,690

Total current assets  72,602 62,761

  
Non-current assets  
Property, plant and equipment 11 45,944 34,963
Intangibles 12 159,103 149,204
Deferred tax assets 13 7,205 5,227
Investments 14 3,932 -
Other non-current assets 10 3,610 3,639

Total non-current assets  219,794 193,033

Total assets  292,396 255,794

  
Current liabilities  
Trade and other payables 15 49,662 41,179
Borrowings 16 13,597 601
Income tax payable 6 458 1,828
Provisions 17 11,590 9,358
Other current liabilities 18 13,933 6,515

Total current liabilities  89,240 59,481

 
 

Non-current liabilities   
Borrowings 16 100 308
Provisions 17 6,469 4,375
Other non-current liabilities 18 30,223 42,458
Deferred tax liability 19 3,509 2,622

Total non-current liabilities  40,301 49,763

Total liabilities  129,541 109,244

Net assets  162,855 146,550

Equity  
Contributed equity 20 181,691 172,149
Reserves 21 3,054 3,059
Retained earnings (deficit)  (22,122) (28,855)

Total Group interest  162,623 146,353
Non – controlling interest 22 232 197

Total equity  162,855 146,550

The above consolidated statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the attached notes. 
Certain amounts shown here do not correspond to the 2016 financial statements and reflect adjustments 
made, refer to Note 1. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

 Note Equity Reserves  
Retained  
Earnings  Total 

Non 
Control 
Interest Total 

 
$’000 $’000 

 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

At 1 July 2015  74,904 - (26,534) 48,370 - 48,370

  
Profit for the period (Restated)  - - 6,990 6,990 197 7,187
Other comprehensive income  - 11 - 11 - 11
  
Total comprehensive income 
for the period  - 11 6,990 7,001 197 7,198

  
Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners:  

Non-controlling interest on 
acquisition of subsidiary  - - - - 96 96
Shares issued, net of costs  97,245 - - 97,245 - 97,245
Employee equity plan  - 3,048 - 3,048 - 3,048
Dividends recognised 23 - - (9,311) (9,311) (96) (9,407)

  

  97,245 3,048 (9,311) 90,982 - 90,982

  

As at 30 June 2016  172,149 3,059 (28,855) 146,353 197 146,550

  
At 1 July 2016  172,149 3,059 (28,855) 146,353 197 146,550

  
Profit for the period  - - 17,210 17,210 201 17,411
Other comprehensive income  - (5) - (5) - (5)
  
Total comprehensive income 
for the period  - (5) 17,210 17,205 201 17,406

  
Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners:  

Non-controlling interest on 
acquisition of subsidiary  - - - - 30 30
Shares issued, net of costs  9,149 - - 9,149 - 9,149
Employee equity plan  393 - - 393 - 393
Dividends recognised 23 - - (10,477) (10,477) (196) (10,673)

  

  9,542 - (10,477) (935) (166) (1,101)

  

As at 30 June 2017  181,691 3,054 (22,122) 162,623 232 162,855
 
    
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the attached notes. 
Certain amounts shown here do not correspond to the 2016 financial statements and reflect adjustments 
made, refer to Note 1.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS 
 Note 30 Jun 2017 30 Jun 2016 
  $’000 $’000 
    
Cash flows from operating activities  
Receipts from customers  362,877 262,973
Payments to suppliers and employees  (340,094) (219,119)
Interest received  98 361
Interest and other costs of finance paid  (170) (207)
Income taxes paid  (9,724) (7,247)
  

Net cash flows used in operating activities 31 12,987 36,761

  
Cash flows from investing activities  
Proceeds from sale of property plant and equipment  52 25
Proceeds from disposal of business  - 841
Payments for purchases of property plant and equipment  (11,986) (8,904)
Payments for intangible assets  - (4)
Payments for businesses acquired, net of cash acquired  (6,851) (31,185)
Loans and other investments  (3,902) 1,020
  

Net cash flows (used in) / provided by investing activities  (22,687) (38,207)

  
Cash flows from financing activities   
Equity raised  - 43,526
Proceeds from borrowings  13,000 2,810
Repayment of borrowings  (782) (14,803)
Dividends paid to AMA shareholders 23 (10,477) (9,311)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders  (196) (96)
  

Net cash flows (used in) / provided by financing activities  1,545 22,126

  
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents  (8,155) 20,680
  
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of year  22,888 2,197
  
Effects of exchange changes on the balances held in foreign 
currencies  (10) 11
  

Cash and cash equivalents, at the end of year 7 14,723 22,888

 
The above consolidated statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the attached notes. 
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Note 1 Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Basis of preparation 
 
Basis of accounting 
 
This general purpose financial report, for the year ended 30 June 2017, has been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001, for AMA 
Group Limited (“AMA” or the “Company”) and its controlled entities as a consolidated group (the “Group”).  
The Group is a for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards.  
Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 
 
Principles of consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all controlled entities in the 
Group as at 30 June 2017 and the results of all controlled entities for the year then ended.  A list of the 
controlled entities is provided in Note 29 to these financial statements. 
 
Controlled entities are all those entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. 
Controlled entities are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are 
de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 
 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between controlled entities in the 
Group are eliminated in full. 
 
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment, in the separate financial statements of 
the Company. 
 
Historical cost convention 
 
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified where 
applicable by the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets and liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss and certain classes of property, plant and equipment. 
 
Comparative figures 
 
When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in 
presentation for the current financial year.  
 
When the Group applies an accounting policy retrospectively, makes a retrospective restatement or 
reclassifies items in its financial statements, a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the earliest 
comparative period will be disclosed. 
 
Final Acquisition Accounting  
 
Accounting for Customer Contracts acquired as part of the Gemini acquisition was finalised in the current 
reporting period.  As a result, amortisation charges in respect of these contracts have been calculated and 
comparative period balances re-stated to reflect charges which relate to those prior reporting periods. 
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 Consolidat ed 
 30 June  2016 
 Reported  Adjust  Restated  
 $’000 $’000 $’000 
    
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive  income     
    
Revenue 264,284 - 264,284 
Expenses (250,528) (327) (250,855) 
    
Profit before income tax expense 13,756 (327) 13,429 
    
Income tax expense (6,340) 98 (6,242) 
    
Profit after income tax expense 7,416 (229) 7,187 
    
Non-controlling interests, net of tax (197) - (197) 
    
Profit after income tax expense attributable to the owners of AMA 7,219 (229) 6,990 
    
Other comprehensive income, net of tax 11 - 11 
    
Total comprehensive income attributable to the owners of AMA 7,230 (229) 7,001 
    
Earnings per share from continuing operations  Cents  Cents  Cents  
    
Basic  1.58 (0.05) 1.53 
Diluted 1.55 (0.05) 1.50 
    
Statement of financial position  $’000 $’000 $’000 
    
Intangible assets 149,531 (327) 149,204 
Other assets 106,590 - 106,590 
    
 256,121 (327) 255,794 
    
Deferred tax liabilities 2,720 (98) 2,622 
Other liabilities 106,622 - 106,622 
    
 109,342 (98) 109,244 
 146,779 (229) 146,550 
    
Retained earnings (28,626) (229) (28,855) 
Other equity 175,405 - 175,405 
    
 146,779 (229) 146,550 
 
Rounding amounts 
 
The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors Reports) 
Instrument 2016/191 and in accordance with that Instrument, amounts in the financial statements have been 
rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar. 
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Critical Accounting Estimates 
 
The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires the 
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires Management to exercise its judgement in the 
process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are 
disclosed in Note 2 to these financial statements. 
 
Summary of principal accounting policies 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.  
 
Foreign currency transactions and balances 
 
Functional and presentation currency 
 
The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Australian dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. 
 
Transactions and balances 
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end exchange rate. 
Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date when 
fair values were determined. 
 
Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income, except where deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge. 
Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognised directly in equity to the 
extent that the gain or loss is directly recognised in equity; otherwise the exchange difference is recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Revenue recognition 
 
Sales revenue represents revenue earned from the sale of the Group’s products and services, net of returns, 
trade allowances and duties and taxes paid.  All revenues are stated net of goods and services taxes. 
 
In the majority of cases the simple process of delivery of goods or service to a customer, where the risks and 
rewards of ownership pass to the customer, give rise to the recognition of income. 
 
The revenue recognition policy follows AASB: 118 Revenue and revenue is recognised when all of the 
following criteria are met: 
 
• the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods. 
• the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with 

ownership nor effective control over the goods sold. 
• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. 
• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group. 
• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 
 
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method. It includes amortisation of any discount or 
premium. 
 
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established.  Grants 
and subsidies are recognised as income over the period to which they relate. 
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Income tax 
 
The income tax expense/(income) for the year comprises current income tax expense/(income) and deferred 
tax expense/(income). 
 
Current income tax expense charged to the profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income calculated 
using applicable income tax rates enacted, or substantially enacted, as at the end of the reporting period.  
Current tax liabilities/(assets) are therefore measured at the amounts expected to be paid to/(recovered from) 
the relevant taxation authority. 
 
Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances 
during the year as well as unused tax losses. 
 
Current and deferred income tax expense/(income) is charged or credited directly to equity instead of the 
profit or loss when the tax relates to items that are credited or charged directly to equity. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are ascertained based on temporary differences arising between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets also 
result where amounts have been fully expensed but future tax deductions are available.  No deferred income 
tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, 
where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of 
the reporting period.  Their measurement also reflects the manner in which Management expects to recover 
or settle the carrying amount of the related asset or liability. 
 
Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax asset 
can be utilised. 
 
Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates, and joint 
ventures, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary difference can be controlled and it is not probable that the reversal will occur in the foreseeable 
future. 
 
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is intended 
that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur.  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists, the deferred tax 
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable 
entity or different taxable entities where it is intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and 
settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur in future periods in which significant amounts of 
deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled. 
 
Tax consolidation 
 
AMA Group Limited and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have formed an income tax consolidated 
group under tax consolidation legislation. Each entity in the Group recognises its own current and deferred tax 
assets and liabilities.  Such taxes are measured using the ‘stand-alone taxpayer’ approach to allocation.  
Current tax liabilities /(assets) and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and tax credits in the 
subsidiaries are immediately transferred to the head entity. The Group notified the Australian Taxation Office 
that it had formed an income tax consolidated group to apply from 1 September 2006.  
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Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-
term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank 
overdrafts.  Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial 
position. 
 
Inventories 
 
Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  
Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead 
expenditure.  Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates and discounts received or 
receivable. 
 
Investments and other financial assets 
 
Investments and other financial assets are stated at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell.  The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices.  For unlisted investments, 
the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques.  These include the use of recent arms-length 
transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, 
and option pricing models. 
 
Property, plant and equipment 
 
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less any accumulated depreciation.  
The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually to ensure it is not in excess of the 
recoverable amount from these assets. 
 
Depreciation is calculated on either a straight line or diminishing value basis (class or asset must have either 
a straight line or diminishing value not both) as considered appropriate to write off the net cost or re-valued 
amount of each item of plant and equipment over its expected useful life to the Group.  The expected useful 
lives are as follows:- 
 
Leasehold improvements 
 
The cost of improvements to or on leasehold properties is amortised over the unexpired life of the lease or the 
estimated useful life of the improvement to the Group, whichever is the shorter.  The diminishing value 
method of depreciation was used. 
 
Plant and equipment 
 
The expected useful life of purchased plant and equipment is two to fifteen years.  Where items of plant and 
equipment have separately identifiable components which are subject to regular replacement, those 
components are assigned useful lives distinct from the item of plant and equipment to which they now relate.  
The diminishing value method of depreciation was used. 
 
Furniture and equipment 
 
The expected useful life of furniture and equipment is two to ten years.  The diminishing value method of 
depreciation was used. 
 
Motor vehicles 
 
The expected useful life of motor vehicles is four to eight years.  The diminishing value method of depreciation 
was used. 
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Leases 
 
A distinction is made between finance leases which effectively transfer from the lessor to the lessee 
substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of leased non-current assets, and operating 
leases under which the lessor effectively retains substantially all such risks and benefits. 
 
Finance leases are capitalised.  A lease asset and liability are established at the present value of minimum 
lease payments.   Lease payments are allocated between the principal component of the lease liability and 
the finance costs. 
 
The leased asset is depreciated on a straight line basis over the term of the lease, or where it is likely that the 
Group will obtain ownership of the asset, the life of the asset.  Leased assets held at the reporting date are 
being amortised over periods ranging from three to five years. 
 
Other operating lease payments are charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which 
they are incurred, as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased assets. 
 
Intangible assets 
 
Goodwill 
 
Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is calculated as the excess of the 
sum of: 
 
• the consideration transferred; 
• any non-controlling interest; and 
• the acquisition date fair value of any previously held equity interest, over the acquisition date fair value of 

net identifiable assets acquired. 
 
The value of goodwill recognised on acquisition of each subsidiary in which the Group holds less than a 100% 
interest will depend on the method adopted in measuring the aforementioned non-controlling interest. The 
Group can elect to initially measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value (full goodwill 
method) or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the subsidiary’s identifiable net assets 
(proportionate interest method).  The Group determines which method to adopt for each acquisition based on 
the entitlement of non-controlling interest to a proportionate share of the subsidiary net assets. 
 
Under the full goodwill method, the fair values of the non-controlling interests are determined using valuation 
techniques which make the maximum use of market information where available.  Under this method, goodwill 
attributable to the non-controlling interests is recognised in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisition of associates 
is included in investments in associates. 
 
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and is allocated to the Group’s cash generating units or groups of 
cash generating units, which represent the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored but where such level is 
not larger than an operating segment. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying 
amount of goodwill related to the entity sold. 
Changes in the ownership interests in a subsidiary are accounted for as equity transactions and do not affect 
the carrying values of goodwill. 
 
Research and Development 
 
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of obtaining new or scientific or technical 
knowledge and understanding, is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an expense 
when it is incurred. 
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Expenditure on development activities, being the application of research findings or other knowledge to a plan 
or design for the production of new or substantially improved products or services before the start of 
commercial product or use, is capitalised only when technical feasibility studies identify that the product or 
service will deliver future economic benefits and these benefits can be measured reliably. Expenditure on 
development activities have a finite life and are amortised on a systematic basis matched to the future 
economic benefits over the useful economic life of the product or service. 
 
Patents and trademarks 
 
Patents and trademarks are recognised at the cost of acquisition.  Patents and trademarks have a finite life 
and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.  Patents and trademarks 
are amortised over their estimated useful life of 5 years. 
 
Customer contracts 
 
Customer contracts are recognised at the fair value at acquisition.  Customer contracts have a finite life and 
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.  Customer contracts are 
amortised over the lesser of the remainder of the contract or their estimated useful life relevant to each 
specific contract. 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be 
impaired. The assessment will include the consideration of external and internal sources of information. If 
such an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by comparing the recoverable amount 
of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, to the asset’s 
carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the 
statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
 
Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives. 
 
Trade and other payables 
 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the 
financial year and which are unpaid.  The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30-45 days of 
recognition.  Other payables not due within a year are measured less cumulative amortisation calculated 
using the effective interest method. 
 
Onerous leases 
 
Represents contracts entered into in which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the 
contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it.  The excess of the lease obligations 
over the expected economic benefits is expensed in the period that the contract becomes onerous.  The 
liability represents the present value of the minimum lease payments and is held on the statement of financial 
position until it is extinguished. 
 
Finance costs 
 
Finance costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.  Finance costs include 
interest on: 
 
• Short term and long term borrowings 
• Finance leases 
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Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration 
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 
 
Employee benefits 
 
Wages and salaries and annual leave 
 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and annual leave expected to be settled 
within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are recognised in other payables and provisions in respect 
of employees' services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be 
paid when the liabilities are settled. 
 
Long service leave 
 
The liability for long service leave is recognised in provisions and is measured as the present value of 
expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date 
at present value. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures and periods of service. 
 
Share-based payments 
 
Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant. Fair value is measured 
by use of an option pricing model. The expected value used in the model is adjusted, based on Management’s 
best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, other risk factors and behavioural 
considerations. 
 
The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a 
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest. 
 
For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability equal to the portion of the goods or services received is 
recognised at the current fair value determined at the end of the reporting period. 
 
Contributed equity 
 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or 
options, or for the acquisition of a business, are included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase 
consideration. 
 
Dividends 
 
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at 
the discretion of the Company, on or before the end of the financial year but not distributed at the end of the 
reporting period. 
 
Business combinations 
 
Business combinations occur where an acquirer obtains control over one or more businesses and results in 
the consolidation of its assets and liabilities. 
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A business combination is accounted for by applying the acquisition method, unless it is a combination 
involving entities or businesses under common control. The acquisition method requires that for each 
business combination one of the combining entities must be identified as the acquirer (i.e. the Company).  The 
business combination will be accounted for as at the acquisition date, which is the date that control over the 
acquiree is obtained by the Company.  At this date, the Company recognises, in the consolidated accounts, 
and subject to certain limited exceptions, the acquisition date fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed.  In addition, contingent liabilities of the acquiree will be recognised where a present 
obligation has been incurred and its fair value can be reliably measured. 
 
The acquisition may result in the recognition of goodwill or a gain from a bargain purchase.  The method 
adopted for the measurement of goodwill will impact on the measurement of any non-controlling interest to be 
recognised in the acquiree where less than 100% ownership interest is held in the acquiree. 
 
The acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred for a business combination plus the acquisition 
date fair value of any previously held equity interest shall form the cost of the investment in the separate 
financial statements.  Consideration may comprise the sum of the assets transferred by the acquirer, liabilities 
incurred by the acquirer to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the acquirer. 
 
Fair value uplifts in the value of pre-existing equity holdings are taken to the statement of comprehensive 
income.  Where changes in the value of such equity holdings had previously been recognised in other 
comprehensive income, such amounts are recycled to profit or loss. 
 
Included in the measurement of consideration transferred is any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement.  Any obligation incurred relating to contingent consideration is classified as either 
a financial liability or equity instrument, depending upon the nature of the arrangement.  Rights to refunds of 
consideration previously paid are recognised as a receivable.  Subsequent to initial recognition, contingent 
consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within 
equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured each reporting period to fair 
value through the statement of comprehensive income unless the change in value can be identified as 
existing at acquisition date. 
 
All transaction costs incurred in relation to the business combination are expensed to the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
 
Earnings per share 
 
Basic earnings per share 
 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company, 
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued 
during the year. 
 
Diluted earnings per share 
 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take 
into account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential 
ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no 
consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
 
Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). In this case it is recognised as part of 
the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 
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Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount 
of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included in other receivables or other payables in the 
Statement of Financial Position. 
 
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the ATO, are presented as operating cash flows. 
 
Financial instruments 
 
Recognition and initial measurement 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the Company commits 
itself to either the purchase or sale of the asset (i.e. trade date accounting is adopted).  
 
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except where the instrument is 
classified ‘at fair value through profit or loss’, in which case transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss 
immediately. 
 
Classification and subsequent measurement 
 
Financial instruments are subsequently measured at fair value, amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method, or cost.  Fair value represents the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability 
settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties.  Quoted prices in an active market are used, where available, 
to determine fair value.  In other circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted. 
 
Amortised cost is calculated as:  
 
• the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition; 
• less principal repayments; 
• plus or minus the cumulative amortisation of the difference, if any, between the amount initially recognised 

and the maturity amount calculated using the effective interest method; and 
• less any reduction for impairment. 
 
The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the relevant period 
and is equivalent to the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (including fees, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life (or when this cannot be reliably 
predicted, the contractual term) of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or 
financial liability. Revisions to expected future net cash flows will necessitate an adjustment to the carrying 
value with a consequential recognition of an income or expense in profit or loss. 
 
The Group does not designate any interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint venture entities as being 
subject to the requirements of accounting standards specifically applicable to financial instruments.   
 
i. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 
Financial assets are classified at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ when they are either held for trading for the 
purpose of short-term profit taking, derivatives not held for hedging purposes, or when they are designated as 
such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to enable performance evaluation where a group of financial assets 
is managed on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy. 
Such assets are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in carrying value being included in profit or 
loss.   
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ii. Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost.  Loans and receivables are 
included in current assets, except for those which are not expected to mature within 12 months after reporting 
date. (All other loans and receivables are classified as non-current assets.) 
 
All trade receivables are recognised at the amounts receivable as they are due for settlement by no more than 
90 days.  Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Debts which are known to be 
uncollectible are written off.  A provision for impairment of receivables is raised when some doubt as to 
collection exists. 
 
iii. Held-to-maturity investments 
 
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed or 
determinable payments, and it is the Group’s intention to hold these investments to maturity.  They are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost.  Held-to-maturity investments are included in non-current assets, 
except for those that are expected to mature within 12 months after reporting date, which are classified as 
current assets. 
  
If during the period the Group sold or reclassified more than an insignificant amount of the held-to-maturity 
investments before maturity, the entire held-to-maturity investments category would be tainted and 
reclassified as available-for-sale. 
 
iv. Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either not suitable to be 
classified into other categories of financial assets due to their nature, or they are designated as such by 
Management. They comprise investments in the equity of other entities where there is neither a fixed maturity 
nor fixed or determinable payments. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets are included in non-current assets, except for those that are expected to be 
disposed of within 12 months after reporting date, which are classified as current assets. 
 
v. Financial liabilities 
 
Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of 
the financial year and which are unpaid.  The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30-45 days 
of recognition.  Other payables not due within a year are measured less cumulative amortisation calculated 
using the effective interest method. 
 
Loans are carried at their principal amounts which represent the present value of future cash flows associated 
with servicing debt.  Interest is accrued over the period it becomes due and unpaid interest is recorded as part 
of current payables. 
 
Interest free loans are recorded at their fair value.  Discounted cash flow models are used to determine the 
fair values of the loans. 
 
All non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost 
 
Fair value  
 
Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques are 
applied to determine the fair value for all unlisted financial instruments, including recent arm’s length 
transactions, reference to similar instruments and option pricing models.  
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Impairment  
 
At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
instrument has been impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a prolonged decline in 
the value of the instrument is considered to determine whether impairment has arisen. Impairment losses are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.  
 
Financial guarantees 
 
Where material, financial guarantees issued, which require the issuer to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due, are 
recognised as a financial liability at fair value on initial recognition.  
 
The guarantee is subsequently measured at the higher of the best estimate of the obligation and the amount 
initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation in accordance with AASB: 118 Revenue.  
Where the entity gives guarantees in exchange for a fee, revenue is recognised under AASB: 118 Revenue. 
 
The fair value of financial guarantee contracts has been assessed using a probability weighted discounted 
cash flow approach. The probability has been based on: 
 
• the likelihood of the guaranteed party defaulting in a year period; 
• the proportion of the exposure that is not expected to be recovered due  to the guaranteed party defaulting; 

and 
• the maximum loss exposed if the guaranteed party were to default. 
 
De-recognition 
 
Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires or the asset is 
transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the 
risks and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related 
obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying value of the financial 
liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair value of consideration paid, including the 
transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 
 
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be 
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is considered 
highly probable.  They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, 
except for assets such as deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits, financial assets and 
investment property that are carried at fair value and contractual rights under insurance contracts, which are 
specially exempt from this requirement. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset (or disposal group) to 
fair value less costs to sell.  A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value less costs to sell 
of an asset (or disposal group), but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss previously recognised.  A 
gain or loss not previously recognised by the date of the sale of the non-current asset (or disposal group) is 
recognised at the date of de-recognition. 
 
Non-current assets (including those that are part of a disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised while 
they are classified as held for sale.  Interest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a disposal 
group classified as held for sale continue to be recognised. 
Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale are 
presented separately from the other assets in the statement of financial position. The liabilities of a disposal 
group classified as held for sale are presented separately from other liabilities in the statement of financial 
position. 
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A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that has been disposed of or is classified as held for 
sale and that represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, is part of a 
single co-ordinated plan to dispose of such a line of business or area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired 
exclusively with a view to resale.  The results of discontinued operations are presented separately in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
New accounting standards for application in future periods 
 
In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by 
the Australian Accounting Standards Board (the “AASB”) that are relevant to their operations and effective for 
annual reporting periods beginning on 1 July 2016. 
 
The adoption of all new and revised Standards and Interpretations did not affect the amounts reported for the 
current or prior periods.  In addition, the new and revised Accounting Standards and Interpretations have not 
had a material impact and not resulted in change to the Group’s presentation of or disclosure in these 
financial statements. 
 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the AASB that are not yet mandatorily applicable to the 
Group, together with an assessment of the potential impact of such pronouncements on the Group when 
adopted in future periods, are discussed below: 
 
AASB 9: Financial Instruments and associated amending standards (applicable for annual reporting periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2018) 
 
AASB 9 will be applicable retrospectively and includes revised requirements for the classification and 
measurement of financial instruments, revised recognition and de-recognition requirements for financial 
instruments and simplified requirements for hedge accounting.  The key changes made to the Standard that 
may affect the Group on initial application include certain simplifications to the classification of financial 
assets. 
 
Although the Directors anticipate that the adoption of AASB 9 may have an impact on the Group’s financial 
instruments, including hedging activity, based on the preliminary assessment performed to date, the effects 
are not expected to be material. 
 
AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on 
or after 1 January 2018) 
 
This standard, when effective, will replace the current accounting requirements applicable to revenue with a 
single, principles-based model. Except for a limited number of exceptions, including leases, the new revenue 
model in AASB 15 will apply to all contracts with customers as well as non-monetary exchanges between 
entities in the same line of business to facilitate sales to customers and potential customers.  The core 
principle of AASB 15 is that an entity will recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or 
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in 
exchange for the goods or services.  AASB 15 also requires enhanced disclosures regarding revenues.  This 
standard will require retrospective restatement and is available for early adoption. 
 
Although the Directors anticipate that the adoption of AASB 15 may have an impact on the Group’s financial 
statements, based on the preliminary assessment performed to date, the effects are not expected to be 
material. 
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AASB 16: Leases (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2019) 
 
AASB 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and accounting 
treatments for both lessors and lessees. AASB 16 will supersede the current lease guidance including AASB 
117 Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes effective.  AASB 16 distinguishes leases and 
service contracts on the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer.  Distinctions of 
operating leases (off balance sheet) and finance leases (on balance sheet) are removed for lessee 
accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to be 
recognised for all leases by lessees (i.e. all on balance sheet) except for short-term leases and leases of low 
value assets. 
 
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain 
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the 
lease liability.  The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not 
paid at that date.  Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the 
impact of lease modifications, amongst others. 
 
The classification of cash flows will also be affected as operating lease payments under AASB 117 are 
presented as operating cash flows; whereas under the AASB 16 model, the lease payments will be split into a 
principal and an interest portion which will be presented as financing and operating cash flows respectively. 
Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by AASB 16. 
 
The Group had as at 30 June 2017, non-cancellable operating lease commitments of $54.57 million (30 June 
2016: $41.3 million).  AASB 117 does not require the recognition of any right-of-use asset or liability for future 
payments for these leases; instead, certain information is disclosed as operating lease commitments in Note 
28.  A preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet the definition of a lease under 
AASB 16, and hence the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of 
all these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases upon the application of AASB 16.  The 
new requirement to recognise a right-of-use asset and a related lease liability is expected to have a significant 
impact on the amounts recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.  It is not practicable to 
provide a reasonable estimate of the financial effect until a full assessment of the potential impact is 
completed by the Group. 
 
AASB 2016-1: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Recognition of Deferred 
Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses 
 
This standard is applicable from annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with earlier 
application being permitted.  This standard amends AASB 112 Income Taxes to clarify how to account for 
deferred tax assets related to debt instruments measured at fair value, particularly where changes in the 
market interest rate decrease the fair value of a debt instrument below cost. 
 
This Standard is not expected to significantly impact the Group’s financial statements. 
 
AASB 2016-2: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 
107 
 
This standard is applicable from annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with earlier 
application being permitted. This standard amends AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows to require entities 
preparing financial statements in accordance with Tier 1 reporting requirements to provide disclosures that 
enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including 
both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. 
 
This Standard is not expected to significantly impact the Group’s financial statements. 
 
  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



AMA GROUP LIMITED 
(ACN 113 883 560) 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 

 
FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 

25 

AASB 2016-5: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Classification and Measurement of Share 
based Payment Transactions 
 
This Standard is applicable from 1 January 2018 with earlier application being permitted.  The Standard 
amends AASB 2 Share-based Payment to address: 
 
a) The accounting for the effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions on the measurement of cash-settled 

share-based payments; 
b) The classification of share-based payment transactions with a net settlement feature for withholding tax 

obligations; and 
c) The accounting for a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment that changes the 

classification of the transaction from cash-settled to equity-settled. 
 
This Standard is not expected to significantly impact the Group’s financial statements. 
 
Note 2 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements 
 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the Group and that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 
 
When preparing the financial statements, Management undertakes various judgements, estimates and 
assumptions concerning the recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  The 
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equate with the related actual results. The following 
are significant judgements, estimates and assumptions made in applying the accounting policies of the Group 
that have the most significant effect on the financial statements. 
 
Impairment of Goodwill 
 
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating 
units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the 
future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to 
calculate present value.  Refer to Note 12 for details of key assumptions used to calculate the recoverable 
amount of goodwill. 
 
Fair value of financial instruments 
 
Management uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments (where active 
market quotes are not available).  This involves developing estimates and assumptions consistent with how 
market participants would price the instrument.  Management bases its assumptions on observable data as 
far as possible but this is not always available.  In that case, Management uses the best information available.  
 
The carrying value of the deferred vendor consideration, payable as a result of the acquisition of businesses 
and entities, incorporate a number of assumptions.  In determining this value, Management have applied a 
discount factor and a probability factor on the earn-out components to determine the fair value.  The interest 
expense and the fair value adjustment have been taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  
 
  F

or
 p

er
so

na
l u

se
 o

nl
y



AMA GROUP LIMITED 
(ACN 113 883 560) 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 

 
FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 

26 

Note 3 Segment Information 
 
The Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by 
the Chief Executive Officer (chief operating decision maker) in assessing performance and determining the 
allocation of resources. 
 
The Group is managed primarily on the basis of product category and service offerings since the 
diversifications of the Group’s operations inherently have notably different risk profiles and performance 
assessment criteria.  Operating segments are therefore determined on the same basis. 
 
Reportable segments disclosed are based on aggregating operating segments where the segments are 
considered to have similar economic characteristics with respect to the products sold and/or services provided 
by the segment. 
 
The Group only operates within one geographical area, Australasia, and has historically been segmented by 
the products it provides, being: 
 
• Vehicle Panel Repair - Motor vehicle panel repairs. 
• Vehicle Protection Products - Manufacture & distribution of motor vehicle protective bars. 
• Automotive Electrical & Cable - Distribution of motor vehicle electrical & cable accessories. 
• Automotive Component Remanufacturing - Motor vehicle component remanufacturing & repairs. 
 
Unless stated otherwise, all amounts reported to the Chief Executive Officer as the chief decision maker with 
respect to operating segments are determined in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies.  The gross 
margin of the panel repair segment, as presented to the Chief Executive Officer, does not include direct labour 
costs or an allocation of overheads. 
 
All inter-segment transactions are eliminated on consolidation for the Group’s financial statements. 
 
Where an asset is used across multiple segments, the asset is allocated to the segment that receives the 
majority of economic value from the asset. In the majority of instances, segment assets are clearly identifiable 
on the basis of their nature and physical location. 
 
Liabilities are allocated to segments where there is direct nexus between the incurrence of the liability and the 
operations of the segment. Borrowings and tax liabilities are generally considered to relate to the Group as a 
whole and are not allocated. Segment liabilities include trade and other payables and certain direct 
borrowings. 
 
The following items of revenue, expense, assets and liabilities are not allocated to operating segments, other 
than for direct labour for panel segment, as they are not considered part of the core operations of any 
segment: 
 
• non-recurring items of revenue or expense; 
• income tax expense; 
• deferred tax assets and liabilities; 
• other financial liabilities; 
• fixed manufacturing & service costs and other cost of sales adjustments; 
• finance costs; 
• dividend payments; 
• intangible assets; and 
• discontinued operations. 
 
The Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by 
the Board and Executive Management in assessing performance and determining the allocation of resources. 
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 Panel Protection Electrical Component Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Year to 30 June 2017 

Revenue 

External sales 323,769 25,685 14,864 10,340 374,658

Other income 742 791 77 224 1,834

Total sales & other income 324,511 26,476 14,941 10,564 376,492

Unallocated revenue 5,673

Total revenue 382,165

Result 

Segment gross margin 185,459 12,622 4,514 4,067 206,662

Impairment expense -

Unallocated expenses (180,539)

Fair value adjustments (718)
Profit from continuing operations before 
income tax 25,405

Net assets 

Segment assets 107,826 55,468 12,098 9,789 185,181

Unallocated assets 107,215

Total Assets 292,396

Segment liabilities (62,681) (3,231) (2,090) (1,752) (69,754)

Unallocated liabilities (59,787)

Total Liabilities (129,541)

 

Year to 30 June 2016 

Revenue 

External sales 211,549 27,591 15,030 7,732 261,902

Other income 571 977 208 282 2,038

Total sales & other income 212,120 28,568 15,238 8,014 263,940

Unallocated revenue 344

Total revenue 264,284

Result 

Segment gross margin 123,730 12,579 4,393 3,203 143,905

Impairment expense (2,954) (2,954)

Unallocated expenses (126,584)

Fair value adjustments (920)
Profit from continuing operations before 
income tax 13,447

Net assets 

Segment assets 197,437 21,024 11,553 3,577 233,591

Unallocated assets 22,203

 255,794

Segment liabilities (50,719) (3,765) (2,464) (1,255) (58,203)

Unallocated liabilities (51,041)

 (109,244)

 
Gross Margin for the Vehicle Panel Repair segment does not include direct labour or an allocation for overheads. These costs are 
allocated to Unallocated.  
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Note 4 Revenue 
 

 30 Jun 2017 30 Jun 2016 
 $’000 $’000 

From continuing operations  
Sales revenue  
Sale of goods 50,839 50,352
Service and hire 323,819 211,550

 374,658 261,902

Other revenue  
Interest received 98 361
Exchange rate gains - 102
Other revenue 7,409 1,919
  

 7,507 2,382

  

Total revenue from continuing operations  382,165 264,284

  
Note 5 Expenses 
 

 30 Jun 2017 30 Jun 2016 
 $’000 $’000 

  
Profit before income tax includes the following spe cific expenses:  
  
Rental expense relating to operating leases (minimum lease payments) 16,165 12,509
Defined contribution superannuation expense 10,197 7,386
Executive equity plan expense 403 3,644
Consulting and advisory expense 3,684 3,711
Bad and doubtful debts expense / (recovery) (32) 23
Inventory obsolescence expense 12 50
Loss / (profit) on disposal of assets (15) 62
Depreciation and amortization expense  
- Depreciation of property, plant & equipment 7,168 4,515
- Amortisation of intangible assets 3,444 2,629
Impairment expense   
- Goodwill - 2,000
- Other 300 954
Interest and finance charges paid / payable 170 207
  
  
Fees paid or payable to Shine Wing Australia (the Company’s Auditors) or its 
related practices:  
- Audit or review of the financial reports 316 298
- Other services - -

 316 298
 
  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



AMA GROUP LIMITED 
(ACN 113 883 560) 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 

 
FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 

29 

Note 6 Income Tax Expense 
        
 Notes  30 Jun 2017 30 Jun  2016 
  $'000 $'000 
    
Income tax expense    
Current tax payable  457 1,828 
Businesses acquired during the year  - (360) 
Current year tax instalments paid during the year  8,267 6,400 
Deferred tax  (450) (1,491) 
Other  - - 
(Over)/Under provision in respect of prior year  (279) (37) 
   
Aggregate income tax expense  7,995 6,340 
   
Deferred tax included in income tax expense comprises:   
Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets   (236) 101 
(Decrease)/increase in deferred tax liabilities   (214) (1,592) 
   
   (450) (1,491) 
   
Reconciliation of prima facie tax payable to income  tax expense:    
   
Profit before income tax (expense)/benefit  25,406 13,756 
   
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30%  7,622 4,127 
   
Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating 
taxable income:   
   
Employee equity plan  121 1,093 
Impairment  90 600 
Fair value adjustments  215 276 
Non-deductible professional services fees  226 275 
Prior period adjustment  - (98) 
Other non-deductible items  - 6 
(Over)/Under provision in respect of prior year  (279) (37) 
   
Income tax expense  7,995 6,242 
   
Income tax expense attributable to:   
- Continuing operations  7,995 6,248 
- Discontinued operations 30 - (6) 
   
Income tax expense  7,995 6,242 
   
Income tax expense attributable to:   
- Members of the Company  7,909 6,157 
- Non-controlling interests  86 85 
   
Income tax expense  7,995 6,242 
   
The applicable weighted average effective tax rates are as follows:  31.5% 45.4% 
 
The Group is part of a tax consolidation group.  See the income tax accounting policy in Note 1. 
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Note 7 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
  30 Jun 2017 30 Jun 2016 
  $'000 $'000 
  
Cash on hand  65 28
Cash at bank  14,658 22,860
  
  14,723 22,888
 
Note 8 Trade and Other Receivables 
 

  30 Jun 2017 30 Jun 2016 
  $'000 $'000 

    
Current   
Trade receivables  28,711 18,704
Less provision for impairment of receivables  (269) (130)
  
  28,442 18,574
  
Other receivables  6,523 4,207
  
  34,965 22,781
  
 
There were no non-current trade or other receivables in either reported year. 
 
Bad and doubtful trade receivables 
 
The Group has recognised a provision of $269,000 (2016: $130,000) in respect of bad and doubtful trade 
receivables during the year ended 30 June 2017.  
 
Impairment of receivables 
 
The ageing of the provision for impairment of trade receivables recognised above is as follows: 
 

  30 Jun 2017 30 Jun 2016 
  $'000 $'000 

    
3 to 6 months  269 130 
Over 6 months  - - 
   
  269 130 
   
Movements in the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as 
follows:   
   
Opening balance  130 48 
Business acquisition  20 69 
Additional provisions recognised/(released)  127 20 
Receivables written off/(back-in) during the year as uncollectible  (8) (7) 
Discontinuing operation  - - 
   
Closing balance  269 130 
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Past due but not impaired 
 
The ageing of the past due but not impaired receivables is shown below: 
 

  30 Jun 2017 30 Jun 2016 
  $'000 $'000 

    
1 to 3 months  4,899 4,772 
3 to 6 months  - - 
Over 6 months  - - 
   
Closing balance   4,899 4,772 
 
Customers with balances past due but without provision for impairment at 30 June 2017 amount to 
$4,899,000 (2016: $4,772,000).  Management do not consider that there is any credit risk on the aggregate 
balances after reviewing credit agency information and recognising a tacit extension to the recorded credit 
terms of customers based on recent collection practices. 
 
The balances of receivables that remain within initial trade terms (as detailed in table) are considered to be of 
high credit quality. 
 
Note 9 Inventories 
 

  30 Jun 2017 30 Jun 2016 
  $'000 $'000 

    
Raw materials and consumables  8,212 6,019 
Work in progress  5,844 4,143 
Finished goods  5,157 5,240 
   
  19,213 15,402 
 
Note 10 Other Assets 
 

  30 Jun  2017 30 Jun  2016 
  $'000 $'000 

    
Current    
Deferred Employee Equity Plan  170 265 
Prepayments  3,531 1,425 
   
  3,701 1,690 
   
Non-Current    
Deferred Employee Equity Plan  205 120 
Prepayments  1,246 1,475 
Vendor loans  2,159 2,044 
   
  3,610 3,639 
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Note 11 Property, Plant and Equipment 
 

  30 Jun  2017 30 Jun  2016 
  $'000 $'000 

    
Leasehold improvements - at cost  16,105 12,006 
less accumulated amortisation  (4,317) (3,824) 
   
  11,788 8,182 
   
Plant & equipment - at cost  52,069 38,926 
less accumulated depreciation  (21,073) (14,330) 
Less impairment provision  (1,651) (1,651) 
   
  29,345 22,945 
   
Furniture & equipment - at cost  4,319 3,451 
less accumulated depreciation  (1,946) (1,807) 
   
  2,373 1,644 
   
Motor vehicles - at cost  4,754 4,398 
less accumulated depreciation  (2,316) (2,206) 
   
  2,438 2,192 
   
  45,944 34,963 
   
 
Movements in the fair values of Property, Plant & Equipment are set out below: 
 

 Leasehold 
improvements  

Plant & 
Equipment 

Furniture & 
Fittings 

Motor 
vehicles Total 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
   
Balance at 1 July 201 5 1,700 5,432 564 378 8,074
Additions 3,830 4,971 523 481 9,805
Business acquisition 2,798 16,802 676 1,411 21,687
Disposals (39) (18) (11) (20) (88)
Depreciation expense (107) (4,242) (108) (58) (4,515)
Discontinued operations - - - - -
   
Balance at 30 June 2016 8,182 22,945 1,644 2,192 34,963
   
Balance at 1 July 2016 8,182 22,945 1,644 2,192 34,963
Additions 3,956 6,983 824 312 12,075
Business acquisitions 65 5,951 18 77 6,111
Disposals - (2) - (35) (37)
Depreciation expense (415) (6,532) (113) (108) (7,168)
Discontinued operations - - - - -
   
Balance at 30 June 2017 11,788 29,345 2,373 2,438 45,944
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Note 12 Intangible Assets 
 

  30 Jun  2017 30 Jun  2016 
  $'000 $'000 

    
Goodwill - at cost  161,594 148,251 
Less impairment  (8,545) (8,545) 
  153,049 139,706 
   
Patents & Trademarks  629 629 
Less amortisation  (212) (192) 
  417 437 
   
Customer contracts  11,977 11,977 
Less amortisation  (6,340) (2,916) 
  5,637 9,061 
   
  159,103 149,204 
 
Movements in the carrying amounts of Intangible Assets are set out below: 
 
 

Goodwill 
Patents & 

Trademarks 
Customer 
Contracts Total 

 $'000 $’000 $’000 $,000 
     
Balance at 1 July 2015 47,235 79 732 48,046
 
Additions and adjustment 1,139 4 - 1,143
Acquired 93,332 384 10,929 104,645
Impairment expense (2,000) - - (2,000)
Amortisation expense - (30) (2,600) (2,630)
 
Balance at 30 June 2016 139,706 437 9,061 149,204
 
Additions and adjustment 96 - - 96
Acquired 13,247 - - 13,247
Impairment expense - - - -
Amortisation expense - (20) (3,424) (3,444)
 
Balance at 30 June 2017  153,049 417 5,637 159,103
 
Goodwill 
 
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (“CGU”) which are based on the Group’s operating segments: 
 
 30 Jun  2017 30 Jun  2016 
  $'000 $'000 
 
Vehicle Panel Repair 134,826 121,639
Vehicle Protection Products & Accessories 11,414 11,414
Automotive Electrical & Cable Accessories 5,349 5,349
Automotive Component Remanufacturing 1,460 1,304
 
  153,049 139,706
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The recoverable amount of the Group’s goodwill has been determined by a value-in-use calculation using a 
discounted cash flow model, based on 5-year cash projection budgets approved by the Board, using the 
following key assumptions: 
 

 
Vehicle Panel 

Repair 

Vehicle 
Protection 
Products & 
Accessories 

Automotive 
Electrical & 

Cable 
Accessories 

Automotive 
Component 

Remanufacturing  
     
Growth Rate % 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
     
Pre-tax discount rate % 7.80 8.30 9.10 9.10 
 
The value in use calculations use weighted average growth rates to project revenue & costs and 
Management’s best estimates of what it believes will occur in future years.  Due to the current effects of the 
economic environment on the automotive industry, the Company has adopted a conservative approach and 
used growth rates of 0.00%. 
 
The pre-tax discount rates of 7.80% to 9.10% reflect Management’s estimate of the time value of money and 
the Group’s weighted average cost of capital adjusted for additional risk factors associated with each 
segment. 
 
Impact of possible changes in key assumptions 
 
Vehicle Panel Repair Segment 
 
If the base EBIT used in the value-in-use calculation for this CGU had decreased by 10% and then remained 
constant with no further growth applied, the group would not be required to recognise any further impairment 
of goodwill in relation to this CGU. 
 
If the estimated pre-tax discount rate for this CGU had been 1% higher than Management’s estimates (8.80% 
instead of 7.80%), the group would not be required to recognise any further impairment of goodwill in relation 
to this CGU. 
 
Vehicle Protection Products & Accessories Segment 
 
If the base EBIT used in the value-in-use calculation for this CGU had decreased by 10% and then remained 
constant with no further growth applied, the group would not be required to recognise any further impairment 
of goodwill in relation to this CGU. 
 
If the estimated pre-tax discount rate for this CGU had been 1% higher than Management’s estimates (9.30% 
instead of 8.30%), the group would not be required to recognise any further impairment of goodwill in relation 
to this CGU. 
 
Automotive Electrical & Cable Accessories Segment 
 
If the base EBIT used in the value-in-use calculation for this CGU had decreased by 10% and then remained 
constant with no further growth applied, the group would be not required to recognise any further impairment 
of goodwill (2016: $Nil) in relation to this CGU. 
 
If the estimated pre-tax discount rate for this CGU had been 1% higher than Management’s estimates 
(10.10% instead of 9.10%), the group would be not required to recognise any further impairment of goodwill 
(2016: $Nil) in relation to this CGU. 
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Automotive Component Remanufacturing Segment 
 
If the base EBIT used in the value-in-use calculation for this CGU had decreased by 10% and then remained 
constant with no further growth applied, the group would not be required to recognise any further impairment 
of goodwill in relation to this CGU. 
 
If the estimated pre-tax discount rate for this CGU had been 1% higher than Management’s estimates 
(10.10% instead of 9.10%), the group would not be required to recognise any further impairment of goodwill in 
relation to this CGU. 
 
Note 13 Deferred Tax Asset 
 

  30 Jun  2017 30 Jun  2016 
  $'000 $'000 

    
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:   
   
Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensiv e income:    
Employee benefits  4,158 3,102 
Provisions  368 1,070 
Accrued expenses  1,211 394 
Inventory  197 134 
Doubtful debts  81 39 
Other  925 100 
   
  6,940 4,839 
   
Amounts recognised in equity:    
Transaction costs on share issue  265 388 
   
  265 388 
   
Deferred tax asset  7,205 5,227 
 
At 30 June 2017, the Group has estimated un-recouped revenue losses of $334,000 (2016: $nil). 
 
At 30 June 2017, the Group has estimated un-recouped capital losses of $3,528,900 (2016: $3,747,900) none 
of which have been brought to account as a deferred tax asset. 
 
The benefit of these losses will only be obtained if: 
• The companies derive future assessable income of a nature and an amount sufficient to enable the 

benefits from the deductions for the losses to be realised. 
• The companies continue to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by the law. 
• No changes in tax legislation adversely affect the companies in realising the benefit from the deductions for 

the losses. 
 
Note 14 Investments 
 

  30 Jun  2017 30 Jun  2016 
  $'000 $'000 

    
Investment in associates  3,932 - 
 
On 23 May 2017, AMA announced that it would seek to acquire all of the shares in Automotive Solutions 
Group Limited (“ASG”).  This Offer lapsed on 7 July 2017.  At 30 June 2017, the Company had acquired 
12,532,376 fully paid ordinary shares in ASG which represents 24.9% of the issued capital of ASG.  At 
completion of the offer, AMA held 15,755,471 fully paid ordinary shares in ASG which represents 31.3% of the 
issued capital of ASG.   
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Note 15 Trade and Other Payables 
 

  30 Jun  2017 30 Jun  2016 
  $'000 $'000 

    
Trade payables  37,182 28,531 
Other payables  12,480 12,648 
   
  49,662 41,179 
 
Note 16 Borrowings 
 

  30 Jun  2017 30 Jun  2016 
  $'000 $'000 

    
Current    
Bank loan  13,000 - 
Lease liability  597 601 
   
  13,597 601 
   
Non-current    
Bank loan  - - 
Lease liability  100 308 
   
  100 308 
    
Total    
Bank loan  13,000 - 
Lease liability  697 909 
   
  13,697 909 
    
At year end the Group had unrestricted access to the following lines of credit: 
 

  30 Jun  2017 30 Jun  2016 
  $'000 $'000 

    
Bank loan facility  40,000 12,000 
   
Unutilised at balance date  27,000 12,000 
 
Financing arrangements 
 
On 24 August 2016, the Company entered into a new Facility Agreement with National Australia Bank Limited.  
The key terms of this agreement are: 
 
• a $40 million facility, with a 36 months tenor, to assist in funding acquisitions and general corporate needs; 
• a $6.5 million lease facility to assist with the purchase of capital equipment;  
• a $3.0 million bank guarantee facility to assist with securing property rental leases; and 
• a $0.4 million letter of credit facility. 
 
The Facility is secured by a fixed and floating charge over all of the assets of the Company and its wholly 
owned subsidiaries and is subject to standard covenants.  At year end, the Company was in compliance with 
these covenants. 
 
The lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets recognised in the statement of 
financial position revert to the lessor in the event of default. 
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Note 17 Provisions 
 

  30 Jun 2017 30 Jun  2016 
  $'000 $'000 

    
Current    
Annual leave  8,604 6,603 
Long service leave  2,408 2,604 
Dividends  190 151 
Onerous lease  388 - 
   
  11,590 9,358 
   
Non-current    
Long service leave  2,847 1,132 
Make good  3,153 1,865 
Onerous lease  469 1,378 
   
  6,469 4,375 
 
Movements in provisions 
 
Movements in each class of provision during the current financial year, other than employee benefits, are set 
out below: 
  Dividends Make Onerous Total 
  Good Lease  
 
Carrying amount at beginning of year 151 1,865 1,378 3,394
 
Arising during the year 39 1,330 209 1,578
Utilised - (42) (730) (772)
 
Carrying amount at end of year 190 3,153 857 4,200
 
Amounts not expected to be settled within the next 12 months 
 
The current provision for annual leave is presented as current, since the Group does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement. However, based on past experience, the Group does not expect all 
employees to take the full amount of accrued leave within the next 12 months.      
 
The current provision for long service leave includes all unconditional entitlements where employees have 
completed the required period of service and also those where employees are entitled to pro-rata payments in 
certain circumstances. The entire amount is presented as current, since the Group does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement. However, based on past experience, the Group does not expect all 
employees to take the full amount of accrued long service leave or require payment within the next 12 
months. 
 
The following amounts reflect leave that is classified as a current liability but is not expected to be taken within 
the next 12 months: 
 

  30 Jun  2017 30 Jun  2016 
  $'000 $'000 

    
Annual leave obligation expected to be settled after 12 months  1,473 4,728 
Long service leave obligation to be settled after 12 months  792 365 
   
  2,265 5,093 
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Note 18 Other Liabilities 
 

  30 Jun  2017 30 Jun  2016 
  $'000 $'000 

    
Current    
Deferred income  6,000 5,100 
Deferred vendor consideration  7,933 1,415 
   
  13,933 6,515 
   
Non-current    
Deferred income  8,532 14,919 
Deferred vendor consideration  21,691 27,539 
   
  30,223 42,458 
 
Deferred Vendor Consideration 
 
The Company has recorded deferred and contingent consideration to Business Vendors for $31.208 million 
(2016: $31.200 million) which, as per the relevant business purchase agreement includes amounts for 
performance based earn-outs to be paid in a mixture of shares and cash.  The present value of the liability is 
$29.624 million (2016: $28.954 million).  Refer to Note 24 for further information on how fair value has been 
determined for contingent consideration.  An analysis of this liability by type of consideration follows: 
 
     30 Jun 2017  30 Jun 2016  
  $’000 $’000 
Current    
Cash Settlement 4,143 624
Share Settlement 3,790 791
 

 7,933 1,415
Non-Current: 
Cash Settlement 19,319 20,706
Share Settlement 2,372 6,833
 

 21,691 27,539
 29,624 28,954
 
Deferred Income 
 
In a previous financial year, the Group entered into an agreement with a key supplier to purchase product and 
services from the supplier over an agreed period of time and receives various preferential benefits; one of 
which is a market investment incentive.  To satisfy the requirements of this agreement, the Group must 
continue to purchase from this supplier or otherwise repay the market investment incentive in accordance with 
agreed terms. The incentive is being amortised as this liability reduces.  At 30 June 2017, an amount of $6.0 
million (2016: $5.1 million) has been classified as current representing the anticipated reduction in this 
incentive over the next twelve months.  
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Note 19 Deferred Tax Liability 
 

  30 Jun  2017 30 Jun  2016 
  $'000 $'000 

    
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:   
   
Amounts recognised in statement of comprehensive income:   
Sundry debtors  1,818 997 
Customer contracts  1,691 1,625 
Sundry items  - - 
   
Deferred tax liability  3,509 2,622 
 
Note 20 Contributed Equity  
 
    30 Jun 2017 30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2017 30 Jun 2016 
 Number  Number  $’000 $’000 
 
Fully Paid Ordinary shares  
Quoted 488,892,102 473,196,686 161,691 157,149
Unquoted 30,100,428 25,000,000 20,000 15,000
 

 518,992,530 498,196,686 181,691 172,149
 
Quoted Fully Paid Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding 
up the Company in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held.  On a show of hands 
every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy is entitled to one vote and, upon a 
poll, each share is entitled to one vote. 
 
Unquoted Fully Paid Ordinary shares entitle the holder to all the same benefits and responsibilities of holders 
of Quoted Fully Paid Ordinary shares with exception that they do not entitle the holder to participate in 
dividends or vote at general meetings of the Company.  As such they are not listed for trade on the ASX.  
They have been issued as part consideration for the acquisition of various entities and are subject to a 
restriction period.  In the event that the business has met its earnings target at the completion of this 
restriction period, the shares are then eligible to participate in dividends. 
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Movements in ordinary share capital  
 Date Number  Issue Price  $’000 
   (Cents)   

Quoted:     

Opening balance 1 Jul 2015 334,250,963  74,904
   
Shares issued   
Institutional placement 1 Jul 2015 75,000,000 58.6 43,968
Employee share issue 15 Oct 2015 721,796 37.4 270
Employee share issue 25 Apr 2016 106,383 94.0 100
Employee share issue 19 May 2016 374,264 37.4 140
Employee share issue 19 May 2016 53,191 94.0 50
Vendor share issue 6 Nov 2015 249,252 100.3 250
Vendor share issue 10 Dec 2015 58,333,333 60.0 35,000
Vendor share issue 4 Jan 2016 655,308 76.3 500
Vendor share issue 29 Jan 2016 1,576,905 82.4 1,300
Vendor share issue 19 May 2016 1,875,291 35.6 667
   

Closing balance 30 Jun 2016 473,196,686  157,149
   
Shares issued     
Employee share issue 17 Oct 2016 18,026 90.1 16
Employee share issue 17 Oct 2016 62,005 43.4 27
Employee share issue 25 Nov 2016 181,181 82.8 150
Employee share issue 25 Nov 2016 181,181 82.8 150
Employee share issue 25 Nov 2016 49,363 101.3 50
Vendor share issue 16 Feb 2017 12,750,000 23.5 2,989
Vendor share issue 21 Mar 2017 1,875,291 35.3 662
Vendor share issue 21 Mar 2017 393,184 76.3 300
Vendor share issue 3 Apr 2017 185,185 106.8 198
  

Closing balance 30 Jun 2017 488,892,102  161,691

   
Unquoted:   
Opening balance 1 Jul 2015 -  -
   
Shares issued   
Vendor share issue 10 Dec 2016 25,000,000 60.0 15,000
   
Closing balance 30 Jun 2016 25,000,000  15,000
   
Shares issued   
Vendor share issue 5,100,428 98.3 5,000
   

Closing balance 30 Jun 2017 30,100,428  20,000
   
Total  518,992,530  181,691
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Note 21 Reserves  
 
 30 Jun 2017 30 Jun 2016 
 $’000 $’000 

 
Equity Based Remuneration Reserve 3,048 3,048
Foreign Exchange Translation Reserve 6 11
 

 3,054 3,059
 
Note 22 Non-Controlling Interests 
 
On 1 July 2015, the Group acquired 60.0% of the issued capital of Woods Auto Shops (Dandenong) Pty Ltd; 
the operator of the Trackright businesses.  The owners of the other 40.0% of issued capital are the 
management of the Trackright business. 
 
 30 Jun 2017 30 Jun 2016 
 $’000 $’000 

 
Opening Balance 197 -
Entity joins the Group 30 96
Share of result for the period 201 197
Dividends paid (196) (96)
 

Closing Balance 232 197
 
Note 23 Dividends  
 30 Jun 2017 30 Jun 2016 
 $’000 $’000 

 
Dividends paid or declared during the period ended were: 
 
Final dividend of 1.7 cents per share, fully franked, paid 30 Oct 2015 - 6,957
Interim dividend of 0.5 cents per share, fully franked, paid 7 Apr 2016 - 2,354
Final dividend of 1.7 cents per share (fully franked), paid 30 Oct 2016 8,045 -
Interim dividend of 0.5 cents per share, fully franked, paid 13 Apr 2017 2,432 -
 

 10,477 9,311

 
Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on tax 
rate of 30% 14,884 4,748
 
The aforementioned amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the reporting 
period, adjusted for: 
 
• franking credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax 
• franking credits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the reporting date 
• franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the reporting date 
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Note 24 Financial Instruments 
 
Financial risk management 
 
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks.  These include market risk (including foreign 
currency risk, price risk and interest rate risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk.  The Group's overall risk 
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential 
adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group.  The Group uses different methods to measure 
different types of risk to which it is exposed.  These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest 
rate risk and ageing analysis for credit risk.  
 
Risk management is carried out by Executive Management under policies approved by the Board.  Executive 
Management identifies, evaluates and mitigates financial risks within the Group's operating units. 
 
Market risk 
 
Foreign currency risk 
 
The Group continues to make purchases in foreign currencies and is therefore exposed to foreign currency 
risk through foreign exchange rate fluctuations. 
 
The carrying amount of the Group's foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities at 
the end of the reporting period are set out below: 
 
  Assets  Liabilities  
Consolidated 30 Jun  2017 30 Jun  2016 30 Jun  2017 30 Jun  2016 
   $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
  
 US Dollar - - 202 739
 NZ Dollar 147 - 205 -
  
   147 - 407 739
 
The Group had financial assets denominated in NZ Dollars of AUD $147,000 as at 30 June 2017 (2016: 
A$Nil). Based on this exposure, had the Australian Dollar weakened/strengthened by 10% against the NZ 
Dollar with all other variables held constant, the Group's result for the year and equity would have been 
$16,000 higher/lower (2016: A$Nil).   
 
The Group had financial liabilities denominated in US Dollars of AUD $202,000 as at 30 June 2017 (2016: 
A$739,000). Based on this exposure, had the Australian Dollar weakened/strengthened by 10% against the 
US Dollar with all other variables held constant, the Group's result for the year and equity would have been 
$22,000 higher/lower (2016: A$82,000).   
 
The Group had financial liabilities denominated in NZ Dollars of AUD $205,000 as at 30 June 2017 (2016: 
A$Nil). Based on this exposure, had the Australian Dollar weakened/strengthened by 10% against the NZ 
Dollar with all other variables held constant, the Group's result for the year and equity would have been 
$23,000 higher/lower (2016: A$Nil).   
 
There were no assets or liabilities denominated in any other foreign currencies, other than NZ or US Dollars 
as at 30 June 2017 or as at 30 June 2016. 
 
The foreign exchange (loss)/gain for the year ended 30 June 2017 was a loss of $41,000 (2016: $102,000 
gain). 
 
The Group does not employ foreign currency hedges and has no official foreign currency policy.  If the 
transactional value, net asset position and overall exposure were to increase it is likely that a policy will be 
adopted to mitigate risk. 
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Price risk 
 
The Group and the Company are not exposed to any significant price risk. 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
The Group and the Company's main interest rate risk arises from short and long-term borrowings.  All 
borrowings are issued at variable rates and this exposes the Group and the Company to interest rate risk.  
The Group and the Company attempt to mitigate this interest rate risk exposure by maintaining an adequate 
interest cover ratio and gearing ratio that ensures financing costs are not significant costs.  At the end of the 
financial year, the Group had bank loans outstanding of $13.0 million (2016: $Nil). 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is managed on a Group basis. Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. The Group has a strict code of credit and 
obtains guarantees where appropriate to mitigate credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding 
the value of any collateral or other security, at the end of the reporting period to recognised financial assets, is 
the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the Statement of 
Financial Position and the Notes to the Financial Statements. 
 
As at 30 June 2017 the Group had no significant concentration of credit risk. 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and available borrowing facilities by 
continuously monitoring actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets 
and liabilities. 
 
The Group has a process of monitoring overall cash balances on a strategic long term basis and at an 
operational level on a weekly basis. This is to ensure ongoing liquidity, prompt decision making and allow 
proactive communication with its funders. 
 
The Group’s current focus is to ensure it meets debt covenants, reduces debt, reduces costs and focuses on 
its current operations in the automotive aftercare market. 
 
Financing arrangements 
 
On 24 August 2016, the Company executed a new finance Facility Agreement with the National Australia 
Bank.  This agreement has a tenor of 3 years and will allow the Company to draw-down up to $40.0 million in 
debt, $6.5 million in finance leases, $3.0 million in guarantees and $0.4 million in letters of credit. During the 
2017 financial year, the Group has met all of its obligations under the financing arrangements. 
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Remaining contractual maturities 
 
The following table details the Group's remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial 
instruments. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities 
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include both interest and 
principal cash flows, disclosed as remaining contractual maturities and these totals differ from their carrying 
amount in the statement of financial position for interest-bearing liabilities due to the interest component. 
 
 Weighted 

average 
interest 

rate 

1 year or 
less 

Over 1 to 2 
years 

Over 2 to 5 
years 

Over 5 
years 

Total 
contractual 
maturities 

 % $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
       
2017  
  
  
Non-interest bearing   
Trade payables 37,182 - - - 37,182
Other payables 12,480 - - - 12,480
Deferred cash consideration 8,070 300 22,838 - 31,208
Interest bearing - variable rate   
Lease liability 5.76% 617 108 - - 725
Bank bills commercial loan 13,000 - - - 13,000
  
 71,349 408 22,838 - 94,595
  
2016  
  
Non-interest bearing   
Trade payables 28,531 - - - 28,531
Other payables 12,648 - - - 12,648
Deferred vendor consideration 1,455 10,429 19,316 - 31,200
Interest bearing - variable rate   
Lease liability 5.76% 696 336 - - 1,032
Bank bills commercial loan - - - - -
  
 43,330 10,765 19,316 - 73,411
 
Fair value of financial instruments 
 
The carrying value of financial instruments as shown in the Statement of Financial Position reflects their fair 
value.  These financial instruments have been analysed and classified using a fair value hierarchy reflecting 
the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy consists of the 
following levels: 
 
• quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1); 
• inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (Level 2); and  
• inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (Level 

3). 
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 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total  
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
     

2017 
Financial Liabilities  
Deferred Vendor Consideration - - 29,624 29,624
 - - 29,624 29,624
 
2016 
Financial Liabilities 
Deferred Vendor Consideration - - 28,954 28,954
       - - 28,954 28,954
 
The fair value of the financial instruments included in Level 3 of the hierarchy has been determined using 
valuation techniques incorporating observable direct and indirect market data relevant to the Company and an 
estimation of the probability on paying the full amount. 
 
During the 2016 and 2017 financial years, the Group has acquired various operations.  In undertaking these 
acquisitions, the Group has incurred a contingent consideration liability consisting of an obligation to provide 
shares in the Company and make an additional cash payment to the vendor if the average profits of the 
acquisition for the earn-out period exceed a pre-specified target level. The fair value of this contingent 
consideration is measured using a discounted cash flow methodology and determined on the basis of the 
possible average profits of the acquisition, weighted by the probability of each scenario. The discount rate 
used is based on the Group’s weighted average cost of capital. 
 
The movement through these Level 3 items is reconciled below: 
 

  30 Jun  2017 30 Jun  2016 
  $'000 $'000 

    
Carrying amount at beginning of year 28,954 10,254
Arising during the year 5,822 21,057
Fair Value adjustment (424) (2,116)
Payments (5,314) (1,173)
Charge to Profit 586 932
  
Carrying amount at end of year 29,624 28,954
 
During the 2017 financial year, the Group acquired various entities and businesses.  In making these 
acquisitions, the Group incurred a contingent consideration liability consisting of an obligation to provide 
shares in the Company and / or make additional cash payments to the vendors if the average profits of the 
acquired business exceeded a pre-specified target level.  For certain acquisitions, this contingent 
consideration is capped at a maximum amount payable. 
 
The fair value of this contingent consideration liability was measured using a discounted cash flow 
methodology applying the Group’s cost of capital.  In making this assessment, it has been assumed, that 
where the arrangement is subject to a cap, the business will meet the pre-specified target and the maximum 
will be payable.  Where the arrangement is not subject to a cap, Management have determined an estimate of 
the likely outcome, based on the possible average profit outcomes that may be achieved, weighted by the 
probability of each scenario.  
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The following table provides quantitative information regarding the significant unobservable inputs, the ranges 
of those inputs and the relationships of unobservable inputs to the fair value measurement for two larger 
acquisitions; Geelong Consolidated Repairs (“GCR”) and Smash Repair Canberra (“SRC”): 
 

Significant Unobservable 
Inputs Used 

Unobservable Inputs 
Used 

Estimated Sensitivity of Fair Value Measurement 
to Changes in Unobservable Inputs 

   
   
If GCR failed to meet its 
earning target 

Anticipated growth rate 
in EBIT of 5% 

If growth rate was 1.0% higher / lower, the fair value 
of the total deferred consideration would increase / 
decrease by $69,000 / $68,000 

   
The GCR Discount rate Discount rate of 2.6% If discount rate was 0.1% (10 bps) higher, the fair 

value of the total deferred consideration would 
decrease by $7,000 

   
If SRC failed to meet its 
earning target 

Anticipated growth rate 
in EBIT of 5% 

If growth rate was 1.0% higher / lower, the fair value 
of the total deferred consideration would increase / 
decrease by $93,000 / $92,000 

   
The SRC Discount rate Discount rate of 2.6% If discount rate was 0.1% (10 bps) lower, the fair 

value of the total deferred consideration would 
increase by $16,000 

 
Capital risk management 
 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so 
that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an 
optimum capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 
 
The Group’s capital includes ordinary share capital, debt facilities, vendor loans and lease liabilities supported 
by financial assets.  There are no externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
  30 Jun  2017 30 Jun  2016 
  Note $'000 $'000 
    
Debt  
Borrowings 16 13,697 909
Deferred Vendor Consideration 18 29,624 28,954
Cash & cash equivalents 7 (14,723) (22,888)
  
Net debt  28,598 6,975
  
Fully Paid Ordinary Shares  
Quoted (at market price)  474,225 380,923
Unquoted (at issue price)  20,000 15,000
  494,225 395,923
  
Total capital  522,823 402,898
  
Gearing ratio  5.47% 1.73%
 
Fully Paid Ordinary Shares Quoted value has been calculated using the closing share prices as at 30 June 
each year. 
 
The Group may issue new shares or sell assets to either reduce debt or to invest in income producing assets. 
This is decided on the basis of maximising shareholder returns over the long term. 
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Note 25 Share-Based Payments  
 
On 14 September 2015, the Company agreed to the new AMA Group Limited Employee Equity Plan (the 
“Employee Equity Plan”).  It was subsequently approved by shareholders at the annual general meeting held 
on 27 November 2015.  It replaces the old Employee Share Option Plan which was last approved by 
Shareholders at the 2013 AGM.  The Employee Equity Plan was adopted by the Board to ensure it meets the 
July 2015 changes to Australian Taxation laws regarding deferred taxation on employee options and 
performance rights and to adopt the requirements of ASIC Class Order 14/1000. 
 
The Employee Equity Plan is for the benefit of all staff members employed by the Group, including Directors 
and Executive Management.  Under the Employee Equity Plan an eligible participant is invited to accept a 
right to receive a share or option. 
 
Shares 
 
During the year ended 30 June 2017, the Company issued fully paid ordinary shares to employees in 
consideration of these employees agreeing to enter into long term contracts with the Company and accepting 
significant post-employment restraint provisions. These 491,756 shares were issued for non-cash 
consideration at an average deemed price of $0.80 per share. 
 
Options 
 
During the year ended 30 June 2016, 18,875,000 options were issued and these options remained 
unexercised at the end of that financial year.  Each option vests after 12 months, is exercisable for $1.20 each 
over the next 24 months and is convertible into 1 Fully Paid Ordinary Quoted Share in the Company.   As 
previously detailed, 14,000,000 of these options had been issued to Key Management Personnel.   
 
No options were issued during the financial year ended 30 June 2017 and no options were exercised during 
that financial year.  At the date of this report, 18,875,000 options remained unexercised.  
 
Note 26 Related Party Transactions 
 
The Company 
 
The ultimate holding entity is AMA Group Limited. 
 
Controlled Entities 
 
Investments in Controlled Entities are set out in Note 29. 
 
Key Management Personnel 
 
Compensation 
 
The aggregate compensation made to Directors and other members of Key Management Personnel of the 
Group is set out below: 
 

  30 Jun  2017 30 Jun  2016 
  $'000 $'000 

    
Short-term employee benefits 2,495 1,813
Long-term benefits 17 27
Post-employment benefits 104 84
Share-based payments 136 2,682
Termination benefits - -
 
Total 2,752 4,606
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Payments for Other Expenses 
 
Payments were made during the year to the following related entities of Mr Raymond Malone. 
 
  30 Jun  2017 30 Jun  2016 
    $'000 $'000 
  
Silvan Bond Pty Ltd - Rental fees  183 168
Malone Superannuation Fund - Rental fees  61 56
  
    244 224
 
Payments were made during the year to the following related entities of Mr Andrew Hopkins. 
 
  30 Jun  2017 30 Jun  2016 
    $'000 $'000 
    
AV Ventures Pty Ltd – Rental fees  161 130
Keyspace Developments Pty Ltd – Rental fees  43 308
A&R Property Developments Pty Ltd – Rental fees  316 -
  
    520 438
 
Payments were made during the year to the following related entities of Mr Raymond Smith-Roberts. 
 
  30 Jun  2017 30 Jun  2016 
    $'000 $'000 
    
SRFE Pty Ltd – Rental Fees  258 155
 
On 23 June 2015, the Company engaged the services of Wilson HTM Corporate Finance Limited to act as a 
joint lead manager in the placement of 75,000,000 shares.  Mr Hugh Robertson was, at that time, associated 
with this firm.  The placement was completed during July 2015 and a fee of $691,875 was paid to Wilson HTM 
Corporate Finance Limited.   
 
As detailed in Note 14 during the year the Group acquired shares in ASG and in this process utilised the 
services of Bell Potter Securities Limited.  Mr Hugh Robertson is currently associated with this firm.  The 
Group paid fees to Bell Potter Securities Limited, for their assistance in this matter, of which Mr Robertson 
was entitled to $25,077. 
 
On 12 February 2016, the Company appointed PSC Insurance Brokers (Aust) Pty Ltd as its General 
Insurance Broker.  Mr Brian Austin is associated with this firm.  A fee of $38,500 (2016 $Nil) was paid by the 
Group for these services during the financial year. 
 
The Group utilises Foster Nicholson Lawyers for legal and advisory services.  Mr Leath Nicholson is 
associated with this firm.  The Group has paid Foster Nicholson fees totalling $536,755 (2016: $435,264) for 
these services. 
 
Trade Receivables from and Trade Payables to related parties 
 
There are no trade receivables from or trade payables to related parties at the end of the reporting period. 
 
Loans to/from related parties 
 
As part of the acquisition of Gemini Accident Repair Centres Pty Ltd in a prior year, the Group acquired loans 
to certain vendors of that entity.  These loans have not been repaid and it is proposed that they will be 
extinguished on completion of the “earn-out” of that entity.  As such, at 30 June 2017 there are loans to 
entities associated with Mr Andrew Hopkins totalling $1,270,884 (2016: $1,270,884). 
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There are no other loans with related parties outstanding at the end of the reporting period. 
 
Terms and conditions 
 
All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates, except for loans 
to subsidiaries which are non-interest bearing. 
 
Note 27 Contingent Liabilities 
 
Unsecured guarantees, indemnities and undertakings have been given by the Company in the normal course 
of business in respect of financial trade arrangements entered into by its subsidiaries and a Deed of Cross 
Guarantee (Note 34) was entered into with its continuing subsidiaries during the financial year ended 30 June 
2017. It is not practicable to ascertain or estimate the maximum amount for which the Company may become 
liable in respect thereof. At 30 June 2017 no subsidiary was in default in respect of any arrangement 
guaranteed by the Company and all amounts owed have been brought to account as liabilities in the financial 
statements. 
 
 30 Jun 2017 30 Jun 2016 
 $’000 $’000 
   
Bank guarantees 2,652 1,863 
   
 2,652 1,863 

 
Note 28 Commitments for Expenditure 
 
  30 Jun  

2017 
30 Jun  
2016 

  Note $'000 $'000 
    
Capital commitments - property, plant & equipment     
    
Committed at the end of the reporting period but not recognised as 
liabilities, payable: 

   

Within one year  1,100 1,970 
One to five years  - - 
After more than five years  - - 
    
   1,100 1,970 
    
Lease commitments – operating     
    
Committed at the end of the reporting period but not recognised as 
liabilities, payable: 

   

Within one year  17,570 12,800 
One to five years  32,895 22,869 
After more than five years  4,105 5,607 
    
   54,570 41,276 
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Lease commitments – finance     
    
Committed at the end of the reporting period but not recognised as 
liabilities, payable: 

   

Within one year  617 696 
One to five years  108 336 
After more than five years  - - 
    
   725 1,032 
    
less future finance charges  (28) (123) 
    
   697 909 
    
Represented as:    
Current commitment 16 597 601 
Non-current commitment 16 100 308 
    
   697 909 
 
Property leases periods 1 to 5 years (shown as operating leases) are non-cancellable with rent payable 
monthly in advance. Contingent rental provisions within lease agreements generally require minimum lease 
payments be increased by CPI or a percentage factor. Certain agreements have option arrangements to 
renew the lease for an additional term and an option to purchase the premises at the market price at time of 
option exercise. 
 
During a previous financial year, the Group acquired businesses that had non-cancellable leases for property 
that were deemed by Management to be onerous contracts.  In these instances a provision was raised to 
reflect the least net cost of exiting from the contract; which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling it and any 
compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfil it.  This provision will unwind over the remaining period 
of the lease terms. 
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Note 29 Investments in Controlled Entities 
 

Name of entity  Country of  Class of  Equity holding  % 
 incorporation  shares  2017 2016 

     
A.C.N. 107 954 610 Pty Ltd (*) (a) Australia Ordinary 100 100 
A.C.N. 122 879 814 Pty Ltd (*) (b) Australia Ordinary 100 100 
A.C.N. 124 414 455 Pty Ltd (*) Australia Ordinary 100 100 
AECAA Pty Ltd (c) Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Custom Alloy Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100 
ECB Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100 
FluidDrive Holdings Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Mr Gloss Holdings Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Phil Munday’s Panel Works Pty Ltd (d) Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Repair Management Australia Pty Ltd (d) Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Repair Management Australia Bayswater Pty Ltd (d) Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Repair Management Australia Dandenong Pty Ltd (d) Australia Ordinary 100 100 
BMB Collision Repairs Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Shipstone Holdings Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Woods Auto Shops (Dandenong) Pty Ltd (e) Australia Ordinary 60 60 
Gemini Accident Repair Centres Pty Ltd (f) Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Repair Management New Zealand Limited (f) (g) New Zealand Ordinary 100 100 
Ripoll Pty Ltd (*) (h) Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Woods Auto Shops (Holdings) Pty Ltd (h) Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Rapid Accident Management Services Pty Ltd (h) Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Woods Auto Shops (Cheltenham) Pty Ltd (*) (h) Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Micra Accident Repair Centre Pty Ltd (i) Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Direct One Accident Repair Centre Pty Ltd (j) Australia Ordinary 100 - 
Smash Repair Canberra Pty Ltd (l) Australia Ordinary 100 - 
Geelong Consolidated Repairs Pty Ltd (m) Australia Ordinary 100 - 
Accident Management Australia Pty Ltd (n) Australia Ordinary 100 - 
Gemini Accident Repair Centres NZ Limited (*) (o) New Zealand Ordinary 100 - 
Carmax New Zealand Limited (*) (p) New Zealand Ordinary 100 - 
 
Note: 
(*) Dormant 
(a) Previously known as Alanco Australia Pty Ltd 
(b) Previously known as Perth Brake Parts Pty Ltd. Name changed when business disposed on 1 February 2016 
(c) Previously known as KT Cable Accessories Pty Ltd 
(d) Acquired on 01 July 2015 
(e) Acquired on 01 July 2015 
(f) Acquired on 01 October 2015 
(g) Previously known as Gemini Accident Repair Centres Limited 
(h) Acquired on 1 November 2015 
(i) Acquired on 4 January 2016 
(j) Acquired on 1 July 2016 
(l) Acquired on 1 February 2017 
(m) Registered on 8 February 2017 
(n) Registered on 3 February 2017 
(o) Registered on 11 November 2016 
(p) Registered on 11 November 2016 
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Business Combinations 
 
During the financial year, the Group successfully acquired: 
 
• On 1 July 2016, 100.0% of the issued capital of Direct One Accident Repair Centre Pty Ltd; the operator of 

the Direct One businesses; 
• On 1 February 2017, 100% of the issued capital of Smash Repair Canberra Pty Ltd; the operator of the 

Autoco businesses; 
• And the following businesses: 

o Highland Smash Repairs on 1 July 2016; 
o Trend Smash Repairs on 1 July 2016; 
o Joondalup Smash Repairs on 1 October 2016;  
o Woollard’s Auto Body Works on 1 October 2016; 
o ZZ Auto on 5 December 2016; 
o Colour Code Automotive Refinishing on 1 January 2017; 
o Winter & Taylor on 1 February 2017; 
o Soldani Bros on 1 February 2017; 
o South City Panels on 1 February 2017; 
o Mark McHugh Body Works on 1 February 2017;  
o ASNU Transmission Products on 1 April 2017; and 
o City Crash Repairs on 30 June 2017. 
 

Direct One Accident Repair Centre Pty Ltd is a vehicle panel repairer and has two facilities located in the 
northern suburbs of Melbourne.  This acquisition is expected to increase the Group’s product offering and 
market share and reduce costs through economies of scale.  The Group acquired 100% of the issued capital 
for a nominal cash payment and a deferred settlement based on an “earn-out” over the next four years.  From 
the date of acquisition to 30 June 2017, this entity generated revenue of $10.04 million and gross margin of 
$5.40 million. 
 
Smash Repair Canberra Pty Ltd is a vehicle panel repairer and has two facilities located in the Australian 
Capital Territory.  This acquisition is expected to increase the Group’s product offering and market share and 
reduce costs through economies of scale.  The Group acquired 100% of the issued capital for a nominal cash 
payment of and a deferred settlement based on an “earn-out” over the next three years and five months.  
From the date of acquisition to 30 June 2017, this entity generated revenue of $4.47 million and gross margin 
of $2.00 million. 
 
As part of the Geelong Consolidated Repairs acquisition, the group acquired the vehicle panel repair 
businesses of Winter & Taylor, Soldani Bros and South City Panels.  These businesses operate from various 
sites in Geelong Victoria.  These businesses will continue to trade using their current names from their 
existing facilities.  The group was acquired for a purchase price that includes an initial amount of $2.2 million 
(less any working capital adjustments) and a deferred settlement based on an “earn-out” over the next three 
years and five months.  From the date of acquisition to 30 June 2017, these acquisitions generated revenue of 
$4.90 million and gross margin of $2.47 million. 
 
During the financial year, the Group also acquired various operating businesses.  These acquisitions are 
expected to increase the Group’s product offering and market share and reduce costs through economies of 
scale.  
 
Highland Smash Repairs and Trend Smash Repairs were acquired as part of the same transaction. Highland 
Smash Repairs has been operating since 1953 and is located in Salisbury, Queensland.  Trend Smash 
Repairs was founded in 1979 is based in Rocklea, Queensland.  These businesses will continue to trade 
using their current names from their existing facilities.  These businesses were acquired for $1.2 million less 
any working capital adjustments. 
 
Joondalup Smash Repairs operates from a workshop located 18km north of Perth in Wangara.  This business 
will continue to trade using its current name from its existing facility.  The business was acquired for a 
purchase price that includes an initial amount of $500,000 (less any working capital adjustments) and a 
deferred settlement based on an “earn-out” over the next four years. 
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Woollard’s Auto Body Works operates a vehicle panel repair business located in Shepparton, Victoria.  This 
business will continue to trade using its current name from its existing facility.  The business was acquired for 
a purchase price that includes an initial amount of $500,000 (less any working capital adjustments) and a 
deferred settlement based on an “earn-out” over the next three years. 
 
Mark McHugh Body Works operates a site in Bundall, Gold Coast, Queensland.  This business will continue to 
trade using its current name from its existing facility.  The business was acquired for a purchase price that 
includes an initial amount of $500,000 (less any working capital adjustments) and a deferred settlement based 
on an “earn-out” over the next three years. 
 
ZZ Auto which has a panel repair facility in Invermay, Tasmania.  This business will continue to operate from 
its existing facilities and was acquired for a cash payment of $150,000 (less any working capital adjustments). 
 
Colour Code Automotive Refinishing which operates a vehicle panel repair facility in Kelmscott, Western 
Australia.  This business will operate as Gemini Kelmscott and was acquired for a cash payment of $80,000. 
 
City Crash Repairs operates a vehicle panel repair facility in Townsville Queensland.  This business will 
continue to operate from its existing facilities and was acquired for a cash payment of $150,000 (less any 
working capital adjustments). 
 
ASNU Transmission Products has established itself as Australia’s largest remanufacturer and creator of 
standard and performance torque converters. As part of our Automotive Component Remanufacturing 
division, ASNU will partner with FluidDrive; Australia’s largest OEM remanufacturer of Automatic 
transmissions.  This business will continue to operate from its existing facilities and was acquired for 
approximately $900,000 (including inventory and working capital). 
 
From the date of acquisition to 30 June 2017, these acquisitions generated revenue of $19.17 million and 
gross margin of $10.11 million. 
 
Details of these acquisitions are as follows: 
 

 Direct One  
Accident 

Repair Centre  

Smash  
Repair 

Canberra 

Geelong  
Consolidated  

Repairs 

Other  Total  

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 

 
Cash and cash equivalents 4 518 - - 522
Trade and other receivables 290 - - 147 437
Inventories 108 249 89 652 1,098
Other current assets 23 - - 9 32
Plant and equipment 931 1,076 1,431 2,674 6,112
Deferred tax assets 105 38 126 202 471
Trade payables and accruals (2,504) (635) - (33) (3,172)
Provisions (351) (131) (415) (673) (1,570)
Borrowings (292) - (279) - (571)
 

Net tangible assets acquired (1,686) 1,115 952 2,978 3,359
Intangible 2,382 4,885 3,115 2,865 13,247
 

Total consideration 696 6,000 4,067 5,843 16,606
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Representing: 
Cash paid or payable - 1,000 1,999 3,911 6,910
Shares issued - 5,000 - 198 5,198
Cash to be paid 774 2,261 1,888 4,923
Shares to be issued - - - - -
Fair value adjustments (78) - (193) (154) (425)
 

 696 6,000 4,067 5,843 16,606

 
Acquisition costs 57 70 71 167 365
 
Note 30 Discontinued Operations 
 
On 10 December 2015, the Company announced that it had entered into a binding contract to sell the 
business and assets of Perth Brake Parts, a business based at 20 Bellows Street, Welshpool, Western 
Australia.  The sale of this business was completed on 1 February 2016.  As such the sale was completed 
during the previous financial period.  Financial information relating to this disposal group for that respective 
reporting period was been classified as a discontinued operation and is set out below. 
 

  30 June 2016  
  $’000 

  
Revenue  1,437
Expenses  (1,455)

Profit before income tax  (18)
Income tax expense  6

Profit (loss) from discontinued operations  (12)
 
Note 31 Reconciliation of Profit after Tax to Operating Cash Flows  
 

  30 Jun 2017 30 Jun 2016 
  $'000 $'000 

  
Profit after income tax  17,210 7,134
Non-controlling interest  201 282
Income tax expense  7,995 6,340
Income tax paid  (9,725) (7,247)
Depreciation and amortisation expense  10,612 6,825
Impairment expense  300 2,954
Deferred income amortisation  (5,487) (2,981)
Equity issued in consideration of employment obligations  403 3,644
Onerous leases  (775) (775)
Fair value adjustments  718 920
Other  (134) 24
(Increases)/decreases in accounts receivable  (11,864) 305
(Increases)/decreases in inventories  (2,775) (3,495)
(Increases)/decreases in prepayments  (5) (165)
(Increases)/decreases in other assets  (1,835) 643
Increases/(decreases) in accounts payable  5,308 8,222
Increases/(decreases) in current provisions  657 (287)
Increases/(decreases) in non-current provisions  2,183 (142)
Increases/(decreases) in other liabilities  - 14,560
  
Net operating cash flows   12,987 36,761
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Note 32 Earnings per Share  
 
  30 Jun 2017 30 Jun 2016 
  $'000 $'000 
  
Profit after income tax attributable to members of AMA Group Ltd  
- From continuing operations  17,210 7,002
- From discontinued operations  - (12)
  
  17,210 6,990
  
  Number  Number  
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating 
basic earnings per share 

 
518,992,530 457,536,805

Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share  18,875,000 10,777,397
  
  537,867,530 468,314,202
  
  Cents  Cents  
Continuing operations:  
- Basic earnings per share  3.32 1.53
- Diluted earnings per share  3.20 1.50
  
Discontinued operations:   
- Basic earnings per share  - -
- Diluted earnings per share  - -
  
Continuing and discontinued operations:  
- Basic earnings per share   3.32 1.53
- Diluted earnings per share  3.20 1.49
 
Note 33 Parent Information 
 
The following information has been extracted from the books and records of the Company and has been 
prepared in accordance with accounting standards. 
 
  30 Jun 2017 30 Jun 2016 
  $'000 $'000 
Assets   
Current assets  7,952 17,456
Total assets   163,076 109,385
    
Liabilities   
Current liabilities  29,977 11,819
Total liabilities   115,649 51,139
   
Net assets/(liabilities)   47,427 58,246
    
Equity    
Contributed equity  181,691 172,149
Reserves  3,048 3,048
Accumulated losses  (137,312) (116,951)
  
Total equity   47,427 58,246
  
Profit/(loss) for the year   (9,982) (9,086)
  
Total comprehensive income /(loss)   (9,982) (9,086)
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Guarantees and contingent liabilities 
 
Refer to Note 27 for details of guarantees and contingent liabilities. 
 
Contractual commitments 
 
Refer to Note 27 for details of contractual commitments. 
 
Note 34 Deed of Cross Guarantee Disclosures 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the 
controlled entities detailed in Note 29 prepared in accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 1. 
 
Pursuant to ASIC Corporations (Wholly-owned Companies) Instrument 2016/785, relief has been granted 
from the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for the preparation, audit and lodgement of financial reports for 
the controlled entities detailed below. 
 
Name of entity  Country of 

incorporation 
Equity holding  

  2017 2016 
  % % 
  
A.C.N. 124 414 455 Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Alanco Australia Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Custom Alloy Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
ECB Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
FluidDrive Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
KT Cable Accessories Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Mr Gloss Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
BMB Collision Repairs Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Shipstone Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Repair Management Australia Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Phil Munday’s Panel Works Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Repair Management Australia Bayswater Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Repair Management Australia Dandenong Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Gemini Accident Repair Centres Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Ripoll Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Woods Auto Shops (Holdings) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Rapid Accident Management Services Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Woods Auto Shops (Cheltenham) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
     
As a condition of the Instrument, the above entities entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee on 31 March 
2017.  The effect of the deed is that AMA Group Limited has guaranteed to pay any deficiency in the event of 
winding up of a controlled entity detailed above or if they do not meet their obligations under the terms of 
overdrafts, loans, leases or other liabilities subject to guarantee.  The controlled entities detailed above have 
also given a similar guarantee in the event that AMA Group Limited is wound up or if it does not meet its 
obligations under the terms of overdrafts, loans, leases, or other liabilities subject to the guarantee. 
 
The Trustee to this deed of cross guarantee is Ripoll Pty Ltd; which is a member of the consolidated group.  
The Alternate Trustee to this deed of cross guarantee is Woods Auto Shops (Cheltenham) Pty Ltd; which is 
also a member of the consolidated group.  The continuing entities and only the continuing entities are included 
in the deed of cross guarantee. 
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If the Deed of Cross Guarantee and the subsequent closed group disclosures were contained in the accounts 
of AMA Group Limited, then an assessment would need to be made as to the fair value of the Deed of Cross 
Guarantee (as a financial guarantee to the Company) and the details of the valuation and significant 
assumptions, estimate and judgements used within that valuation would need to be disclosed.  Please refer to 
the disclosure surrounding financial guarantees in the financial statements of AMA Group Limited (see Note 
27 for further information on financial guarantees). 
 
The Statement of Comprehensive Income of the entities that are members of the Closed Group is shown 
below. 
 

  30 Jun 2017 30 Jun 2016 
 $’000 $’000 

 
Revenue from continuing operations  354,960 257,260
Raw materials and consumables used  (150,702) (108,146)
Employment benefits expense  (130,767) (95,756)
Occupancy expense  (23,717) (17,518)
Travel and motor vehicle expense  (2,714) (2,124)
Professional services expense  (3,717) (3,781)
Advertising and marketing expense  (1,738) (1,607)
Insurance expense  (610) (741)
Research and development expense  (219) (259)
Information technology expense  (1,448) (806)
Communication expense  (810) (674)
Other expense  (2,122) (1,410)
  
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and  
amortisation (EBITDA)   36,396 24,438
Depreciation and amortisation expense  (10,297) (6,767)
Impairment expense  (300) (3,281)

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT)  25,799 14,390
Finance costs  (169) (205)

Profit from continuing operations before fair value  adjustments  25,630 14,185
Fair value adjustments to financial liabilities  (1,191) (920)
Fair value adjustments to contingent consideration  500 -

Profit (loss) before income tax from continuing ope rations 24,939 13,265
Profit (loss) before tax from discontinued operations  - -

Profit (loss) before income tax  24,939 13,265
Income tax benefit / (expense)  (7,850) (6,030)

Net profit (loss)  17,089 7,235
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The Consolidated Statement of Financial Position of the entities that are members of the Closed Group is as 
shown below: 
 
Statement of Financial Position as at   30 Jun 2017 30 Jun 2016 
  $'000 $'000 
  
Assets    
Current assets  
Cash and cash equivalents  12,801 22,751
Trade and other receivables  30,654 21,907
Inventories  18,152 15,209
Other  3,561 1,708
    
Total current assets  65,168 61,575
  
Non-current assets  
Property, plant and equipment  39,732 34,463
Deferred tax assets  7,035 5,228
Intangibles  147,953 148,611
Investment in controlled entities  11,379 605
Receivables from related entities  5,762 391
Other  3,495 3,640
  
Total non-current assets  215,356 192,938
  
Total assets  280,524 254,513
  
Liabilities    
Current liabilities  
Trade and other payables  43,798 40,507
Borrowings  13,222 601
Current tax payable  455 1,792
Provisions  10,134 9,335
Other  13,933 6,515
  
Total current liabilities  81,542 58,750
  
Non-current liabilities  
Borrowings  100 308
Deferred tax Liabilities  3,452 2,617
Provisions  5,140 4,375
Other  28,130 42,458
  
Total non-current liabilities  36,822 49,758
  
Total liabilities  118,364 108,508
  
Net assets  162,160 146,005
  
Equity   
Contributed equity  181,691 172,149
Reserves  3,048 3,039
Accumulated losses  (22,579) (29,183)
  
Total equity  162,160 146,005
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Note 35 Events Occurring after the Reporting Period 
 
The on market offer to acquire all of the issued capital of Automotive Solutions Group Limited referred to in 
Note 14 closed on 7 July 2017.  At that time the Group had increased its ownership interest to 31.3% from the 
holding at 30 June 2017 of 24.9%. 
 
On 31 August 2017, the Directors declared a fully franked dividend of 2.0 cents per security, which is to be 
paid on 31 October 2017. 
 
No other matters or circumstances have arisen since 30 June 2017 that have significantly affected, or may 
significantly affect the Group's operations in future financial years, the results of those operations in future 
financial years, or the Group's state of affairs in future financial years. 
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CORPORATE DIRECTORY 
Directors  
Mr Raymond Malone (Chairman and Executive Director) 
Mr Brian Austin (Non-Executive Director) 
Mr Leath Nicholson (Non-Executive Director) 
Mr Hugh Robertson (Non-Executive Director) 
Mr Andrew Hopkins (Executive Director) 
Mr Raymond Smith-Roberts (Executive Director) 
 
Executive Management  
Mr Raymond Malone (Chief Executive Officer) 
Mr Andrew Hopkins (Chief Executive Officer – Vehicle Panel Repair Division) 
Mr Raymond Smith-Roberts (Chief Executive Officer - Automotive Components & Accessories Divisions) 
Mr Ashley Killick (Chief Financial Officer) 
Mrs Terri Bakos (Company Secretary) 
 
Registered Office  
34 Gilbert Park Drive, KNOXFIELD,VICTORIA, 3180, AUSTRALIA 
Email: info@amagroupltd.com 
Telephone: +61 3 9723 1788 
Facsimile: +61 3 9725 3883 
 
Principal Place of Business  
31 Snook Street, CLONTARF, QUEENSLAND, 4019, AUSTRALIA 
P.O. Box 122, MARGATE, QUEENSLAND, 4019, AUSTRALIA 
Telephone: +61 7 3897 5780 
Facsimile: +61 7 3283 1168 
Web: www.amagroupltd.com 
 
Share Registry  
Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited 
Yarra Falls, 452 Johnston Street, ABBOTSFORD, VICTORIA, 3067, AUSTRALIA 
GPO Box 2975, MELBOURNE VICTORIA 3001 AUSTRALIA 
Telephone: +61 3 9415 4000 
Telephone: 1300 787 272 (Within Australia) 
Facsimile: +61 3 9473 2500 
 
Auditor  
Shine Wing 
Level 10, 530 Collins Street, MELBOURNE VICTORIA 3000 AUSTRALIA 
 
Solicitors  
Foster Nicholson Lawyers 
Level  7, 420 Collins Street, MELBOURNE VICTORIA 3000 AUSTRALIA 
 
Bankers  
National Australia Bank 
Westpac Banking Group 
 
Stock Exchange Listing  
AMA Group Limited shares are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange, code AMA. 
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